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Deutsche Rohstoff Group at a glance

(Annual financial statements in accordance with the German Commercial Code (HGB) / Consolidated Financial Statements)

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

in kEUR in kEUR

Sales revenue 3,095 15,203

Result from ordinary activities 658 7,856

Net profit (after minority interests) 3,145 10,817

Cash and cash equivalents 12,258 9,790

Shareholders’ equity 48,938 31,097

Equity ratio in % 77,1 77,5

Number of shares in thousands 5,322 4,534

Market capitalisation 66,580 64,022

Share details (as of 31 December 2013)

Total number of shares	 5,322,147
Amount of share capital	 5,322,147,00 EUR

Shareholder structure
Management	 20.3 %
BASF-VC 	 6.0 %
Other investors	 73.7 %

Stock exchange trading/exchange	 XETRA / Frankfurt, Berlin, Düsseldorf, Stuttgart
ISIN / WKN	 DE000A0XYG76 / A0XYG7
Stock exchange segment	� Entry Standard, Member of Performance-Index Top 30,  

DAX Int. Mid 100-Index and Rhein-Neckar-Index

Designated Sponsors	 ICF Kursmakler AG
	 Bankhaus Donner & Reuschel AG

Financial calendar 2013

2012 Annual Report published	 6 June 2013
Press conference on an 2012  
financial statements	 6 June 2013
Annual General Meeting	 23 July 2013
2013 Half-year Group result published
(Group interim financial report)	 until 27 September 2013

Corporate bodies

Executive Board	 Dr. Titus Gebel – CEO	
	 Dr. Thomas Gutschlag – CFO

Supervisory Board	 Martin Billhardt (Chairman)
	 Prof. Dr. Gregor Borg 
	 Wolfgang Seybold 
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DEAR DEUTSCHE ROHSTOFF AG SHAREHOLDERS,
DEAR SIR OR MADAM,

Letter to the Shareholders

We were just as pleased about the results 
of some competitors’ horizontal wells that 
were constantly published especially by 
two very large companies operating in the 
Wattenberg Field. The numbers showed 
that horizontal wells in the Niobrara and 
Codell formations in Wattenberg generate 
extremely attractive returns. Therefore, 
Jerry Sommer and his Tekton team encou-
raged the planning of own horizontal wells 
successfully and at full speed since spring. 
Meanwhile, roughly 80 wells have been 
planned and almost all of them have been 
authorized. Tekton successfully completed 
its first two own horizontal wells in April 
2013. They provide a basis for a substantial 
capital expenditure program we are plan-
ning to realize from July 2013. 

Wolfram Camp Mine in Australia started 
regular concentrate deliveries to our off-
taker Global Tungsten & Powders (GTP) in 
the USA in May 2012. Unfortunately the 
start-up phase took longer than expected. 
The team in Australia, led by Gus Phillips, 
has done an excellent job in optimizing the 
complex processes of mining and proces-
sing. In November 2012, WCM’s Board of 
Directors decided on further investments 
to increase the plant’s throughput. With 
success: Since March 2013 we are produ-
cing three to four tons of tungsten concen-
trate per day. Our off-taker GTP supported 
us in financing this investment as well, so 
we were able to increase our existing low 
interest loan.

We are proud to be producing commodities 
since fall 2010 and therefore be playing an 
active role in the world’s industrialization 
and further development. It is very satis-
fying to actually see the fruits of one’s own 
work as instantly as it is the case with com-
modity production. Our products are highly 
demanded “Blockbusters” throughout the 
world, eliminating the need for special mar-
keting expenditures. 

Standing in an open pit of a tungsten mine 
or being present during an oil drilling cam-
paign is not only exciting and interesting, 
but also compels our greatest respect every 
single time: This is where visibly hard and 
honest work takes place in order to extract 
something valuable from nature. Human 
ingenuity, especially with regards to the 
new techniques for oil production, simply 
strikes us sometimes. The combination of 
both ensures that our commodity supplies, 
despite population growth, do not run out 
and raise the global standard of living on a 
broad scale. 

The development of commodity and capi-
tal markets again fluctuated in 2012. Du-
ring the first half of the year, the positive 
trend that persisted since spring 2009, in 
both commodities and the stock market, 
continued. We made use of this positive 

sentiment by raising money in a capital 
increase. In April 2012, our tin subsidiary 
Tin International succeeded in doing so as 
well. As from summer, the positive senti-
ment started to dim. Especially the shares 
of young exploration companies came un-
der considerable pressure. 

In late 2011, we ceased the gold production 
in Australia and sold the Georgetown mine at 
a profit in fall 2012. Instead, Tekton Energy in 
the USA and Wolfram Camp Mining started 
producing oil and gas, and tungsten and mo-
lybdenum concentrate respectively, in the first 
half of 2012. Both projects have resources 
with far more capacities than the relatively 
small deposits situated around Georgetown. 
Tekton Energy in particular provides a sound 
basis for DRAG and rapid growth and high 
revenues in the upcoming years.

Our US colleagues at Tekton constantly de-
livered good news. In spring, all the vertical 
wells were successfully completed in only 
a short amount of time and started to pro-
duce oil, gas, and condensates. The new 
wells in the Wattenberg Field in Colorado 
produced 45,000 barrels of oil equivalents 
in 2012, almost exactly meeting all our 
expectations. Fortunately, oil represents 
by far the greatest valuable component in 
this mix. 

Dr. Thomas Gutschlag,  
CFO of Deutsche Rohstoff AG
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DRAG shareholders from the very begin-
ning can be pleased that the share-price 
gained 59.77 % during the past three ye-
ars. On 27 May 2010, our share closed for 
the first time at EUR 8.70 and on 31 May 
2013 at EUR 13.90. For comparison: The 
DAX rose “only” by 40.5 % over the same 
period of time.

Commodities are the future. 
Come with us.

“Glückauf!” – as the German miner’s good 
luck call goes – from Heidelberg,

Dr. Titus Gebel
Chief Executive Officer, CEO

Dr. Thomas Gutschlag
Chief Financial Officer, CFO

But also the development projects reported 
good results: Tin International and Selten-
erden Storkwitz confirmed the 30-year-old 
resource estimates from the GDR (German 
Democratic Republic) era and received an 
expert review according to the internatio-
nally recognized Australian JORC Standard. 
As far as we know, these are currently the 
only metal deposits in Germany that have 
been examined according to those strict 
and modern resource standards. In regards 
to Rhein Petroleum, we achieved an addi-
tional profit and also reduced our financial 
obligations to a minimum. Now, the first 
drilling in the Rhine Valley is scheduled for 
summer 2013. 

It has been and still is our aim to use our 
capital to finance those projects that pro-
fitably produce commodities. We intend to 
finance the development projects with the 
support of interested partners. We mana-
ged to make good progress thereby during 
the past year. We solely had to postpone 
the Initial Public Offering (IPO) of Tin Inter-
national in Australia due to weak market 
conditions. However, the company has 
sufficient means from previous financing 
to continue their exploration. Rhein Petro-
leum and Devonian Metals have financially 
sound partners. Seltenerden Storkwitz was 
able to successfully accomplish a capital 
increase. 

Once again in 2012, we were able to gene-
rate a positive consolidated profit of EUR 

3.14 million (after minority interests) even 
though Tekton and Wolfram Camp had not 
yet contributed. The Group’s total assets 
increased up to EUR 63.45 million. The 
equity leads to a sound ratio of 77.1 %. The 
Group’s liquid assets and securities classi-
fied as current assets totaled up to 12.26 
million by the end of the year. 

We have set some ambitious goals for 
2013. We are seeking to increase revenue 
and profit considerably. Further invest-
ments, especially in the US oil production, 
also assure high growth rates for the years 
to come. We are aiming at promoting our 
development projects further towards pro-
duction to increase their value without own 
investments. The market value of these as-
sets is a lot higher compared to the very low 
book values. In this respect, we managed to 
generate some hidden reserves that we are 
aiming to increase further. New projects 
that require only little expenses to set up 
but promise a high increase in value are 
being planned as well. 

Executive Board and Supervisory Board are 
proposing a first-time dividend of EUR 0.10 
per share to the Annual General Meeting. 
We want to make clear that it is our constant 
aim that the shareholders participate in the 
Group’s success. As we intend to grow stron-
gly, we firmly believe in considerable share-
price potential. With increasing earnings we 
will also increase the dividend. 

Dr. Titus Gebel, 
CEO of Deutsche Rohstoff AG
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BUSINESS OPERATIONS AND 
CORPORATE STRATEGY

Deutsche Rohstoff AG (DRAG) has the aim 
to establish a new German commodity 
producer. The production of raw materials 
presents a growth industry for many de-
cades to come. The cause for this lies in 
China’s and other emerging countries’ rapid 
industrialization and urbanization. Due to 
additional consumption, the demand for 
raw materials of any kind has been incre-
asing at high rates for several years now. 
In 2011, China inquired 11.4 % of globally 
consumed oil, making China the second 
largest consumer right after the USA. Re-
garding copper, China’s interest in global 
consumption increased in the few years 
between 2001 and 2009 from 15 to 35 %. 

DRAG is engaged in the business of pro-
ducing and exploring oil and gas as well 
as some so-called critical metals. The 
Group limits its operations to countries 
with stable political and legal systems. 
At the moment, these countries include 
Germany, Australia, the United States, and 
Canada, where DRAG has subsidiaries or 
holds interests. The Heidelberg-based pa-
rent company controls the Group, finances 

the operations, makes decisions on new 
investments and sales, and carries out the 
public relations work. Qualified executives, 
usually engineers and geologists with long-
term experience in mining, take responsi-
bility for the on-site operational business. 

As early as fall 2010, DRAG started the first 
own production in the mining business. As 
of January 2011, DRAG also took on the 
processing of gold and silver in George-
town, Australia. This mine, purchased in 
2009, produced 13,321 ounces of gold and 
9,000 ounces of silver in the year of 2011. 
The mine generated a turnover of EUR 15.2 
million and a result of ordinary activities 
of EUR 7.86 million. In fall 2012, DRAG 

sold the mine to an Australian company at 
a pay rate that equals EUR 13 million in 
cash. This divestment generated a profit for 
DRAG at the amount of EUR 4.84 million. In 
the course of the year 2012, DRAG started 
the production of tungsten and molybde-
num concentrate in Australia, as well as 
the production of oil, gas, and gas conden-
sates in the USA. 

Apart from the proceeds from the raw ma-
terial production, DRAG’s business model 
includes the purchase, the development, 
and sale of commodity projects. At the 
beginning of 2011, the Group sold 55 % of 
their 80 % stake in Rhein Petroleum, Hei-
delberg. DRAG co-founded the company at 

Titus Gebel, Jan-Philipp Weitz
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the end of 2007. The Dutch buyer Tulip Oil 
paid a purchasing price of EUR 9.7 million in 
total, generating a profit on behalf of DRAG 
that amounts to EUR 7.75 million. In a se-
cond deal in September 2012, DRAG sold 
15 % of Rhein Petroleum upon payment of 
EUR 5 million, which generated an additio-
nal profit of EUR 2 million. 

Deutsche Rohstoff Group is 
profitable since 2011. 

During the past years, the group narrowed 
down their activities. The company esta-
blished quite a broad and diversified port-
folio in its early years. As for now, there are 
six subsidiaries or interests and Deutsche 
Rohstoff AG itself finances currently only 
two of them (Tekton Energy and Wolfram 
Camp Mining). The other companies (Rhein 
Petroleum, Tin International, Seltenerden 
Storkwitz, and Devonian Metals) are eit-
her exclusively or at least to a great extent 
financed by the respective co-partners. 
The executive board wants to focus the 
company’s activities, and especially the 
financing, on Tekton Energy.

Deutsche Rohstoff Group is profitable since 
2011. In the same year, the group generated 
a net profit after minority interests equiva-
lent to EUR 10.82 million. The net profit 
after minority interests in 2012 amounted 
to EUR 3.14 million. The decline can ba-
sically be attributed to the termination of 
the gold and silver production in Australia 
in the beginning of 2012 as well as to the 
launching costs for the tungsten production 
in Australia and the oil and gas production 
in the USA. DRAG expects sharply rising 
revenues and profits for 2013 and the fol-
lowing years. 

At the end of 2012, the Group’s equity 
amounted to EUR 48.94 million with total 
assets of EUR 63.45 million. Accounts pa-
yable to banks and other liabilities equaled 

The initiation of DRAG’s  
projects start in Heidelberg.

EUR 11.65 million. The equity ratio was 
77.1 %. The number of employees around 
the world added up to about 80, whereas 
the number of service providers and con-
tractors acting on behalf of the Group at the 
same time was usually a lot higher. 
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PROJECT PORTFOLIO AND  
RESOURCE OVERVIEW

DRAG considerably modified its portfolio 
during the past two years. The tin and rare 
earth element projects in Saxony were 
transferred into independent companies 
and opened to investors via a capital incre-
ase. This led to a decrease of DRAG’s stake 
down to 60 % in Tin International and 57 % 
in Seltenerden Storkwitz. The Georgetown 
gold mine was sold entirely. DRAG only 
holds a 10 % stake in Rhein Petroleum. At 
the same time, the stake in Tekton Energy 
increased from originally 57 % to 67 % so 
far. New introductions in 2011 were Wolf-
ram Camp Mining and Tropical Metals at 
100 % each. 

Portfolio overview
Regarding Tekton and Wolfram Camp the 
future financing will be taken on by DRAG 
itself. The shareholding in Tekton and the 
scope of Tekton projects are expected to 
further increase. For the other companies, 
DRAG wants to continue the financing with 
specialized investors, which is why the 
DRAG stake in these projects is likely to 
decrease further. 

DRAG constantly monitors the market in 
order to initiate or purchase new projects 
should the occasion arise. 

The share in Tekton and the 
scope of Tekton projects are 
expected to further increase.

Last year, the historical resource estimates 
of the projects in the metals business divi-
sion were fotunately confirmed according 
to recognized standards. Resource reports, 
according to the internationally recognized 

Australian JORC Standard, are now availa-
ble for Storkwitz, Geyer, and Gottesberg. 
For Wrigley, there has been an update of 
the expert opinion according to the Cana-
dian NI 43-101 Standard. Wolfram Camp 
has a number of expert opinions according 
to JORC Standard at its disposal. The in 
January 2013 newly acquired tin license 
area in Sadisdorf as well as the tungsten 
and molybdenum deposit Bamford Hill in 
Australia only have historical estimations 
at hand so far. 

DRAG received first resource estimations 
for Tekton Energy in late May 2013.
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Overview of resources

Portfolio (as of 31 December 2012) 

Project share 31.12.2012 Company Commodity Barrell Resource Classification

Oil and Gas

Rhine Valley 
and Bavaria

10 % Rhein Petroleum Oil and Gas – expected 2013 / 2014

Wattenberg 63 % Tekton Energy Oil equivalent1  
Oil equivalent1  
Oil equivalent1

1,964,191 Bbl
13,391,200 Bbl 
17,344,854 Bbl

Proved, SPE-PRMS2

Probable, SPE-PRMS2

Possible, SPE-PRMS2

Metals Tons

Wolfram Camp 100 % WCM Tungsten
Molybdenum

852,000 mtu3 

1,700 t
Indicated – Inferred Resource, JORC4

Indicated – Inferred Resource, JORC4

Gottesberg 60 % Tin International Tin 
Copper

114,000 t
38,000 t

Indicated – Inferred Resource, JORC4

Indicated – Inferred Resource, JORC4

Geyer 60 % Tin International Tin
Zinc

44,000 t
51,000 t

Indicated – Inferred Resource, JORC4

Indicated – Inferred Resource, JORC4

Storkwitz 60 % SES AG Rare Earths
Niob
Rare Earths
Niob

20,000 t
4,000 t

18,000 t
4,000 t

Indicated – Inferred Resource, JORC4

D2 – D1 GDR Standard

Wrigley 47 % Devonian Tin / Lead 560,000 t Indicated-Inferred Resource  
(NI 43-1015)

1	� Reserves are shown in barrel oil equivalent, gas (cubic feet) is converted to barrel oil equivalent according to industrial standards  

with a factor of 5,600.

2	 SPE-PRMS: Petroleum Resource Management System of the Society of Petroleum Engineers

3	 Mtu – metric ton unit – equals 10 kg

4	 Australian Standard for the classification of resources – Joint Ore Reserves Committee (JORC)

5	 Canadian Standard for the classification of resources – National Instrument 43-101

Oil and Gas Metals

Production Tekton Energy Wolfram Camp / Tropical Metals

63 % USA Oil and Gas 100 % Australia Tungsten

Deutsche Rohstoff Australia

100 % Australia Gold, Silver

Development Rhein Petroleum

10 % Germany Oil and Gas

Exploration Seltenerden Storkwitz

60 % Germany REE, Niob

Tin International

60 % Australia Tin, Copper

Devonian Metals

47 % Canada Zinc, Lead

Private investors  
Germany

Australian and 
Asian investors

financed by 
partners

Glencore

Sold in Sept. 2012 for 
AUD 16 million. 
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14 Oil and Gas

Windsor / Wattenberg, USA
Deutsche Rohstoff USA Inc.  
(100 % DRAG) / Tekton Energy LLC
(63 % DRAG share as of 31 December 
2012)

By now, Tekton Energy represents 
the most important shareholding for 
DRAG. In February 2012, Tekton com-
pleted a vertical drilling program. 
These new wells produced roughly 
45,000 barrels of oil equivalent in 2012. 
The preparatory measures for hori-
zontal wells started in mid-2012. As of 
30 April 2013, DRAG holds a stake of 
67 % in the company.

Deutsche Rohstoff AG, as well as the two 
US-Americans Jerry Sommer and Earl Nor-

ris founded Tekton Energy in January 2011. 
DRAG, or rather their Delaware-based 
100 % subsidiary Deutsche Rohstoff USA 
Inc., took over 57 % of shares and the 
two co-founders 43 %. Jerry Sommer and 
Earl Norris also took over the company’s 
management. Since the company’s found-
ing, DRAG’s stake successively increased 
through various capital increases. In the 
meantime, four additional parties, direc-
tors, and new employees of Tekton ac-
quired smaller shares at a total of 2.98 %. 

The two co-founders are very well experi-
enced in the oil and gas industry and es-
pecially in the application of technologies 
that have been developed in line with the 
exploitation of shale gas resources in the 
USA. Tekton’s business idea was to lease 

areas where those technologies could be 
applied in an outstandingly profitable way. 

Tekton started the drilling of the 
nine planned vertical wells in 

February 2012.

In July 2011, Tekton started negotiations 
with the owner of a property of a size of ap-
proximately eight square kilometers (1,900 
acres) in the very northwest of the so-called 
Wattenberg Field. These fields are located 
in the Denver region in Colorado, partial-
ly belonging to the area around the small 
town of Windsor. The negotiations were 
successfully completed in October 2011 
with the result of Tekton purchasing a per-
mit to have the right to explore and exploit 
the gas and oil deposits in this territory of 
the Wattenberg Field. 

Tekton started drilling of the nine planned 
vertical wells in February 2012. The drilling 

Jerry Sommer

Oil engineer, President & CEO of Tekton 
Energy, has been active in the US oil 
business for 30 years. Took part in the 
shale gas and shale oil revolution since 
its beginnings and is active in this field 
ever since. Substantial experience in 
establishment, management, and  
leadership of new oil companies.  
Founded Tekton Energy in cooperation 
with Deutsche Rohstoff AG. 

Jerry Sommer, CEO Tekton Energy
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Earl Norris

Oil Geologist and Vice President of ex-
ploration for Tekton Energy, Decades of 
experience in the oil and gas business, 
approved expert for shale gas and shale 
oil formations. Qualified expert for US 
onshore deposits, already worked toge-
ther with Jerry Sommer in the past.

program scheduled three wells from three 
different well sites (Rancho, Pavistma, Frye 
Farms) at the outskirts of the licensed area. 
The actual aim of the drilling was to prove 
the reserves in the areas at the edge of the 
Wattenberg Field and to subsequently sell 
this territory at a profit if possible. All wells 
were completed by May 2012 and all of 
them discovered and exploited the expect-
ed daily rates. In April 2012, the produc-
tion from the first three wells started, the 
next three followed in June, and the last 
three started to produce in August 2012. 
The total investments in vertical wells, in-
cluding test productions and the purchase 
of the area, amounted to roughly USD 6.85 
million. Tekton’s share in the wells totals 
approximately 61 %. The remaining shares 
are allocated to various neighboring hold-
ers of oil and gas licenses where the drilling 
partially took place in their territories. The 
so called working interests are calculated 
according to specific formulas. These third 

parties also have to participate in invest-
ment and ongoing expenses according to 
their working interest. 

During the entire year 2012, the vertical 
wells produced approximately 45,000 
barrels of oil equivalent. Tekton’s turnover 
totaled about USD 1.42 million. Just as 
planned when founding Tekton, the concept 
of proving the reserves has already resulted 
in first offers of potential buyers far above 
the invested amount. 

During the entire year of 2012, 
the vertical wells produced 

approximately 45,000 barrels of 
oil equivalent. 

However, during the course of 2011 but 
especially in 2012, the situation of the two 

largest operating companies in the Wat-
tenberg Field, Anadarko Petroleum and 
Noble Energy, changed. They started to 
publish results from horizontal wells they 
had tested in two geological formations, 
the so-called Niobrara and Codell forma-
tions. With the combination of 3D seismic, 
horizontal wells, and hydraulic fracturing, 
the two companies managed to achieve 
extraordinary results, exceeding former 
production rates considerably. Anadarko 
Petroleum for instance reported as early 
as November 2011, to have an average 
reserve of 350,00 barrels of oil equivalent 
per horizontal well and to have earned the 
investment costs after only 10 months. 
Anadarko currently publishes the present 
value per well at approximately 6.7 million. 
Investment costs per well amount to ap-
proximately USD 4–4.5 million.

Earl Norris, VP Exploration Tekton Energy
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In the meantime, results of dozens of ad-
ditional horizontal (HZ)-wells were con-
firmed. In February 2013, Anadarko report-
ed that the company was planning to invest 
more than USD 1 billion in Wattenberg HZ-
wells in 2013. In a press release, dated 13 
February 2013, the company announced to 
be generating 100 % and more returns with 
HZ-drillings at current oil prices. 

Due to the positive announcements, the 
management of Tekton together with 

Oil and Gas

DRAG, started to assess in spring 2012 
whether the potential for horizontal 
drilling was given on their own acreage. 
Analyses showed the potential for drill-
ing a large number of HZ-wells. In order 
receive more confidence, Tekton started 
to conduct a so-called 3D seismic survey. 
This method helps to create a structural 
map of the sub-surface. This is particu-

larly helpful to spot faults that would 
negatively affect the drilling of HZ-wells. 
The result was, however, that the Tekton 
area has only minor faults that hardly im-
pede or even hinder the planned drilling.

Analyses showed the potential 
for drilling a large number of 

HZ-wells. 

In fall 2012, Tekton management revised 
the plan for drilling horizontal wells once 
again, because in the meantime, com-
petitors published detailed data on ideal 
spacing between the single HZ-wells. 
According to those experiences, many 
more wells per square mile can be drilled 
than originally intended. For Tekton, this 
meant the possibility to drill about 80 
“gross” horizontal wells in which some 
neighboring parties are involved. If the 
neighboring shares are subtracted, the 
wells owned to 100 % by Tekton equal 
60 “net” horizontal wells. Based on the 
positive seismic results, the Tekton man-
agement also started began permitting 
additional drill sites and approximately 

Preparation of a drilling of Tekton Energy in Colorado
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80 more wells. By the end of April 2013, 
73 permits had been given by the local 
authorities of the state of Colorado. In 
February 2013, Tekton commenced the 

drillingof the first two horizontal wells 
from the Rancho pad. These two wells 
were completed within the given time 
frame of 4 weeks and also within the 

total budget of USD 9 million. The two 
wells were completed during April 2013 
and both of them were successful. The 
production started in mid-April.

Tekton’s drilling in the Wattenberg field 
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Facts about Fracking  
in Colorado

Are we facing an energy revolution?
It is definitely fair to say so. The develop-
ment of shale gas and shale oil, using a 
combination of fracking, horizontal drilling, 
and 3D seismic as well as of the creativity 
and persistence of medium-seized US oil 
contractors has changed the global energy 
landscape within only a few years after 
its introduction. The USA have become 
independent of gas imports and are trying 
to achieve the same for the oil sector. 
Hundreds of thousands of jobs have been 
created, reduced the dependence on dubi-
ous regimens, heavy industries have retur-
ned due to the sharply decreased gas prices 
and create an additional boost, gas increa-
singly replaces coal for energy production 
and therefore improves pollutant values. In 
the end, easily accessible and cheap ener-
gy is the basis of every industrial society, 
which makes it the key to everything: pro-
ductivity, growth, an increase in the quality 
of life including the “being-able-to-afford” 
of improved environmental protection. 

Market economy and an inventive mind ac-
complished something in the USA that the 
self-appointed model countries in terms of 
energy transition have, so far, not mana-
ged to achieve: the increased availability 
of energy by decreasing prices and CO2 

emissions at the same time!

How does fracking actually work?
Fracking (actually: hydraulic fracturing) is 
the process of drilling and injecting fluid 

into deep geological rock layers at high 
pressure in order to fracture shale rocks. 
Via these fractures, inner natural gas and 
oil will then flow to the well for exploitation. 
Fracking fluid mainly contains water, apart 
from proppants such as sand or ceramic 
proppants to keep the hydraulic fracture 
open. Otherwise the cracks would close 
again quickly, due to the exerted pressure 
of 2000 – 3000 meters of rock formation. 

Is fracking a new and hardly tested 
method?
No, that is not the case. Hydraulic fracturing 
was first tested in the USA in 1947 and was 
patented in the following year. Until recently, 
the method was used to re-stimulate “con-
ventional” vertical wells at the end of their 
life span where oil and gas were flowing 
into wells on their own. Many wells have 
been fracked several times. So far, approxi-
mately 1.5 million wells have been fracked 
in the USA and due to multiple frackings 
the total number of fracks amounts to 2.5 
million. About 85–90 % of all wells in the 
United States have been subject to fra-
cking. Therefore, fracking is a decades-old 
standard method in the oil and gas industry 
that, despite its large-scale operations, has 
never concerned the general public. 

Starting with the combination of fracking 
with the new technologies of horizontal 
wells a few years back, dense rock forma-
tions known as “unconventional” deposits 
could be exploited for the first time. These 

include the Niobrara and Codell formations 
in the Wattenberg Field where we produce. 
In contrast to conventional deposits, these 
wells have to be fracked immediately in or-
der to operate economically. 

Does fracking affect the  
groundwater?
The main reason why fracking cannot af-
fect the ground water is the following: The 
groundwater aquifer in Colorado (and else-
where) lies at a maximum of a few hundred 
meters below the ground surface, the dee-
pest well drilling for water is 300 meters 
deep. Fracking takes place in a depth of 
2000 – 3000 meters and the fracks itself 
have a maximum vertical expenditure of 
approximately 300 meters, which has 
been confirmed by micro-seismic surveys 
in Colorado (see figure). In between, there 
are more than 1000 meters of dense rock 
formations. The known impairs of local 
geology are not permeable either and 
therefore the groundwater is not affected. 
In view of the above, it is impossible that 
fracking may cause cracks that reach up to 
the groundwater.

The applied fracking fluids are partially reu-
sed (app. 30 – 40 % of its total), the rest re-
mains in the deposit. The captured fracking 
fluid is either stored in special injection 
wells several thousand meters below the 
ground surface, monitored by the environ-
mental authority, or it is processed for reuse 
in preparation plants. 

Oil and Gas
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Since the 1970s, approximately 17,000 
wells have been fracked in the Wattenberg 
Field. There has not been a single case 
where fracking fluids leaked through cracks 
or impairments into the groundwater or 
where groundwater pollution occurred due 
to fracking. 

How high is the water consumption?
For fracking a typical Wattenberg horizon-
tal well of 1.5 kilometers length, about 
8,000 cubic meters of water are needed. 
The water is purchased from local owners 
of the water rights, usually farmers. Despi-
te high fracking activities in Colorado, the 
effect on water consumption is only margi-
nal. The current water demand for fracking 
in Colorado equals 0.1 % of the national 
overall water consumption (in comparison: 

agriculture: 85 %, industry and urban water 
supply: 7 %, leisure industry: 6 %).

Why are chemicals used at all? 
The fracking fluid contains proppants such 
as sand or ceramic beads that are used 
to keep the cracks open. Into the very fine 
cracks the proppants can enter only if the 
liquid is transformed and a gel is created (by 
the addition of guar gum), which transports 
them. Afterwards the gel must again be dis-
solved so it does not block the transport way 
itself. In addition, biocides are used, to avoid 
clogging of the cracks by bacteria.

Are the chemicals dangerous?
Fracking chemicals are usually standard sub-
stances that are also used in the food indus-
try or in homes in cleaning and disinfection 

solutions. In our case, these substances only 
equal 0.3 % of the entire fracking fluid and 
the rest is made up of water and sand. There 
are detailed handling regulations for some 
of the chemicals in order to eliminate the 
risks to human health and the environment. 
These regulations are known as MSDS 
(Material Safety Data Sheets). A detailed 
overview of the substances used in Colora-
do can be consulted on the FAQ site of the 
official state website of the Colorado Oil 
and Gas Conservation Commission (COGCC):  
http://tinyurl.com/oquj2sv

The applied chemical additives are con-
stantly being optimized. The service pro-
vider Halliburton has already developed 
a test version that works with additives 
solely from the food industry and could be 

Above: deepest water drilling 
Below: seismic measurement of hydraulic fracturing expansion (“Fracking”)
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drunk without causing any health concerns:  
http://tinyurl.com/aahxqxs 

Can fracking cause earthquakes?
Fracking generates cracks at lengths of only 
a few meters, energetically below tactility 
by the factor of 1000. Fracking could only 
lead to quakes in tectonically influenced are-
as at an exceptional coincidence of special 
individual circumstances. Those rare situa-
tions can, however, be detected in their early 
stages with micro-seismic monitoring so the 
fracking process can be adapted accordingly 
to defuse the situation. The Colorado Geolo-
gical Survey, the Colorado School of Mines, 
and the University of Denver have extensive 
data on the seismic situation on Colorado 
at hand, which is regularly consulted by 
the COGCC for licensing procedures. There 
is no known case where any of the 17,000 
hydraulic fracturings in the Wattenberg Field 
induced an earthquake. 

Is fracking the cause of burning water 
taps?
The documentary “Gasland” claims this, 
which eventually resulted in many protests 
against this well-established and proven 
technology. In the interim, the author of the 
film had to confirm that the shown burning 
water taps have nothing to do with fracking, 
but instead are the result of natural methane 
near the groundwater. Due to the reasons 
mentioned earlier, it is impossible that fra-
cking, which takes place several thousand 
meters below the surface, may leak gas into 
the groundwater close to the surface that is 

eventually released via domestic water taps. 
As the scenes showed in the film were set 
in Colorado, the state’s COGCC published a 
ratification concerning the false allegations: 
http://tinyurl.com/ckqxatp 

What are the dangers of an accident 
with fracking fluids on the surface?
Accidents with fracking fluids may occur for 
instance, if there is a leakage on a pipeline or 
container or if a tank truck has an accident. 
As this may, however, also occur during con-
ventional development of oil, the industry is 
prepared for such situations. The equipment 
used for fracking underlies strict pressure 
controls (also to quickly spot uncontrolled 
leakages), the well site is equipped with 
collecting facilities for leakages, and all the 
applied chemicals have to be stored in spe-
cially lined pits.

In case a leakage occurs anyway, the con-
taminated soil will be removed. Afterwards, 
the measuring device for groundwater will 
indicate whether the contamination has 
been eliminated completely or if further 
soil removal is required. These kinds of ac-
cidents may happen from time to time but 
the consequences can usually be eliminated 
quickly. 

Is it true that fracking is fairly uncon-
trolled in the USA and that companies 
can basically do whatever they want?
Definitely not. The national regulations are 
extensive; they cover the full aspects on 
exploration and development of natural oil 
and gas, starting with drilling permits for 
the development up to the termination of a 
development operation. The COGCC is pri-
marily responsible for this. As long as the 
exploration or production of natural oil and 
gas takes place within authority borders, the 
state of Colorado has given the authorities 

competence to norm local issues such as 
noise, traffic, and country planning. If drilling 
is planned within a municipality, apart from 
the drilling license by COGCC, an additional 
permit for the mentioned issues has to be 
requested from the authorities. Some of the 
aspects in the natural oil and gas industry 
are dealt with by the US Government itself, 
including occupational safety, the protection 
of air and water, as well as waste disposal. 

For Colorado, having rather strict regulati-
ons compared to other states in the USA, 
the following special conditions for fracking 
according to COGCC apply:

· �there has to be an inventory list of applied 
chemicals for each well site;

· �the operation of fracking measures has 
to be disclosed, specifying the respective 
area and specifics of each drilling;

· �the property owner has to be informed in 
advance if a fracking measure is intended. 
Furthermore, fracking measures have 
to be reported to the COGCC in written 
form, at least 48 hours in advance. The 
COGCC electronically informs the locally 
appointed government official about the 
matter immediately;

· �special requirements regarding casing and 
cementation of the source serve to protect 
the ground water; the observance of the 
regulations has to be documented adequa-
tely (with so-called “Cement Bond Logs”);

Oil and Gas
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· �minimum distances and security measures 
nearby surface waters and inflows as long 
as they serve as public drinking water sup-
plies;

· �the operator is obliged to monitor the pres-
sure of a source during well treatments;

· �Need of special well permits, require-
ments regarding inspections, supervision, 
and material safety data sheets.

http://tinyurl.com/oetqck3

What do the people in Colorado think 
about fracking?
There are numerous debates on fracking 
in Colorado as well. As the oil and gas in-

dustry plays a major role in everyday life 
and in the creation of economic value in 
Colorado, the related questions haven 
been dwelled upon a lot more and also 
more intensively than it has been the case 
in Europe so far. This is also visible on 
the corresponding website of the COGCC, 
offering lots of information on the topic:  
http://tinyurl.com/pbzltm2

Generally, the people of Colorado can mo-
stly be convinced of the controllability and 
environmental compatibility of the fracking 
technologies, especially because the oppo-
nents’ arguments regarding environmental 
degradation of the oil and gas industry ba-
sically never apply to fracking. Even the re-
presentative of the environmentalists used 

the following words in the closing statement 
at the Denver Frac Conference in November 
2011: “We picked the wrong issues.” Only 
two out of all the communities in Colorado 
pronounced against fracking. The city of 
Windsor, where we are operating, supports 
our actions. There is a constant and open ex-
change on the matter with the city represen-
tatives as well as with the property owners 
and neighbors. The democratic governor of 
Colorado, John Hickenlooper, is well known 
in the US as a committed proponent of fra-
cking technologies, especially because he is 
a trained geologist and can therefore very 
well estimate risks and prospects. His cre-
do: “Inexpensive natural gas is the best op-
portunity we have to transition to a greener 
economy.”

Tekton’s project areas are located around the town of Windsor in Colorado.

Denver

West North

Windsor
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RHINE VALLEY AND  
BAVARIAN MOLASSE,  
GERMANY
Rhein Petroleum GmbH (10 % DRAG)

Through a further partial sale, DRAG 
reduced its stake in Rhein Petroleum 
from 25 % to 10 % in September 2012. 
The year 2012 was characterized by 
extensive 3D-seismics and the evalu-
ation thereof.

In September 2012, Deutsche Rohstoff AG 
sold an additional 15 % of their 25 % sta-
ke in Rhein Petroleum GmbH to Tulip Oil 

Holding in The Hague. Tulip holds 90 % of 
the shares ever since, Deutsche Rohstoff 
AG 10 %.

Tulip Oil is an exploration and production 
company with the aim of redevelopment 
and new development of mid-European 
fields. These are conventional deposits 
that do not need fracking for stimulation. 
Its management consists of former Shell 

managers with decades-long experience 
in the international oil and gas industry. 

This sale generated DRAG a total profit of 
EUR 2 million in the year of 2012, most of 
which could be collected tax-free. On top of 
the payment, Tulip and DRAG agreed that 
up to a total investment amount of EUR 40 
million, Tulip takes over 75 % of DRAG’s 
share of investments, which equals EUR 

Vibro truck at the 3D-seismic of Rhein Petroleum

Oil and Gas
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3 million. DRAG has to cover a maximum 
financing share of EUR 1 million. The “car-
ry” of EUR 3 million at the maximum will 
be paid back from DRAG’s profit share or 
possible sales revenues of their share. Af-
ter 2021, the claim for repayment forfeits. 

 The year of 2012 was still 
characterized by extensive 3D 

seismic surveys.

The year of 2012 was still characterized by 
extensive 3D seismic surveys in the license 
areas of the Rhine Valley. With over 760 
square kilometers, this was the largest 
cohesive seismic onshore program in Eu-
rope for the past ten years. For those seis-
mic surveys, Rhein Petroleum chose areas 
including familiar depleted fields or fields 
with structures promising new discoveries. 

From September until November 2011, 
Rhein Petroleum completed 3D seismic 

surveys in the Bavarian license areas “Min-
delheim” and “Rieden”. These were follo-
wed by “Nördlicher Oberrhein” (Northern 
Upper Rhine), which is located in Hesse. 
The surveys in the Baden license areas 
“Karlsruhe-Leopoldshafen” and “Graben-
Neudorf” began in January 2012 and were 
completed at the beginning of May. In fall 
2012, Rhein Petroleum conducted an ad-
ditional smaller seismic survey of about 
75 square kilometers in the license area 
“Heidelberg-Weinheim”. 

Detailed surveys of the 3D-seismic allow a “view into the underground”

The results of the seismic surveys were 
evaluated throughout the year of 2012. 
Based on the interpretation of the evalua-
tion, a drilling program was established by 
Rhein Petroleum specialists. First drillings 
are scheduled for summer 2013.



XXXX24
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WOLFRAM CAMP AND  
BAMFORD HILL, AUSTRALIA
Wolfram Camp Mining Pty. Ltd. and  
Tropical Metals Pty. Ltd.
(both 100 % DRAG)

Wolfram Camp Mining regularly pro-
duces and sells tungsten and molyb-
denum concentrate since May 2012. 
For 2013, DRAG expects a strong sales 
increase due to considerable growth 
in production. 

In May 2011, Deutsche Rohstoff AG took 
over 100 % of Wolfram Camp Mine, which 
in turn owned 85 % of the decommissioned 
Wolfram Camp mine in Queensland, Aus-
tralia. In September and December 2011, 
DRAG acquired 100 % of Tropical Metals, 

Metals

Graeme Collins, Operating Manager of Wolfram Camp and Darcy Milburn, Leading Geologist

Darcy Milburn 

Exploration Geologist with over 25 years 
of experience in the Australian mining 
industry. Certified to provide resource 
estimates according to the JORC Stan-
dard for numerous metallic deposits.  
In addition to his geological activities 
at Wolfram Camp and Bamford Hill, 
he audits and validates possible new 
projects for DRAG. 

who held the remaining 15 % of Wolfram 
Camp and 100 % of the adjacent tungsten 
deposit Bamford Hill. Since then, DRAG 
holds 100 % of Wolfram Camp and Bam-
ford Hill. DRAG paid AUD 8 million, which 
equals approximately EUR 5.9 million for 
both acquisitions, half of it in form of DRAG 
shares. 

In the case of Wolfram Camp, DRAG took 
over an established open pit mine, a tail-
ings pond, a treatment plant, and other 
infrastructure necessary for the operation 



Annual Report 2012 – Deutsche Rohstoff Group 27

of a mine. In addition, Wolfram Camp holds 
large license areas that, based on previous 
and current exploration, are expected to 
host further tungsten (W) and molybde-
num (Mo) deposits. Furthermore, Bamford 
Hill has historic tungsten and molybdenum 
resources, also large prospective areas, 
and additional shafts that were already 
build in the 1980s. The area around Wolf-
ram Camp has a long tradition of tungsten 
mining. Since the 1890s, an intensive min-
ing activity has been documented. After the 
takeover by DRAG in May 2011, it was the 

aim to start mining production as fast as 
possible. By fall 2011, the team around Gus 
Phillips repaired and refurbished the pro-
cessing plant and tailings pond to prepare 
for the start of mining operations. In Octo-
ber 2011, DRAG entered into an agreement 
with global Tungsten & Powders (GTP), an 
American company that belongs to the 
Austrian Plansee Group and processes 
tungsten concentrate from mines in a plant 
in Pennsylvania, USA. Within the scope of 
a five-year-contract, GTP takes off 100 % 
of production. 

Processing Plant of Wolfram Camp , Queensland, Australia

Graeme Collins 

Mining Engineer and Operating Manager 
of Wolfram Camp Mine. Worked in the 
Australian metals mining sector for over 
30 years, both above and below ground. 
Has operational experience in all areas 
that arise in a mining operation. Directs 
the entire operations in Wolfram Camp.
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Wolfram Camp started a small operation 
for the production of concentrate in Decem-
ber 2011. In March 2012, WCM sent a first 
shipment to the customer. In the course of 
2012, a continuous optimization of mining 
and processing was necessary due to rel-
atively large dilution of ore in the open pit 
mining process previous to treatment in the 
processing plant. At this time, production 
was between one and two tons per day. 
In December 2012, a major upgrade of the 
processing plant was started, resulting in 
a much higher throughput (49 instead of 
29 tons per hour). WCM simultaneously 
invested in various machines, including 
a high-tech X-ray sorter from Germany to 
achieve a better pre-concentration of the 
ore. Since March 2013, the plant with the 
higher throughput is operating and produc-
es between three and four tons of tungsten 
concentrate per day. 

Since March 2013, the plant 
with the higher throughput 
is operating and produces 

between three and four tons of 
tungsten concentrate per day.

The price for this tungsten concentrate in 
Europe declined to approximately USD 280/
mtu at the end of 2012, which was mainly 
due to the recession. Its peak price in 2011 
was at USD 460/mtu. The price collapse 

forced WCM to reduce production in order 
to lower the costs. Since February 2013, the 
price is rising again. It was at USD 355/mtu 
at the end of April. 

Since February 2013, DRAG and GTP 
agreed on a slightly revised purchasing 
agreement. Simultaneously, GTP adopted 
an additional loan guarantee. Bank Austria 
increased DRAG’s credit line by USD 4.85 
million to USD 11 million and its duration 
was extended until the end of 2016.

In the meantime, the management of WCM 
established a concept for additional under-

ground mining as well as further measures 
to increase the throughput of the process-
ing plant. In December 2012 and January 
2013, WCM conducted exploration drilling 
and geophysical surveys at Wolfram Camp 
and Bamford Hill, which presented signifi-
cant additional potential. 

Deutsche Rohstoff AG has the aim to 
profitably operate Wolfram Camp and to 
further increase the life of mine through 
continuous explorations. In the medium 
term, DRAG expects persisting high prices 
for tungsten and continuously increasing 
demand. 

Gus Phililips, CEO Wolfram Camp Mining, in the open pit

Gus Phillips 

Operations Manager or General 
Manager of Australian mining pro-
jects for many years. Joined DRAG as 
manager of the Georgetown Goldmine, 
successfully leading it to production. 
As a consequence, promotion to CEO 
of Deutsche Rohstoff Australia, later to 
CEO of Wolfram Camp Mining. 

Metals



Annual Report 2012 – Deutsche Rohstoff Group 29

GOTTESBERG AND GEYER, 
GERMANY
Tin International Pty. Ltd. (60 % DRAG) 

DRAG has outsourced its tin activities 
to Tin International (TIN) in Sydney, 
Australia. The company serves as the 
financing parent company for oper-
ations in Saxony, which are handled 
by the TIN subsidiary Sachsenzinn 
GmbH (SZ). TIN holds licenses with 
verified resources in the Erzgebirge 
(Ore Mountains). Combined, they are 
among the world’s largest undevel-
oped tin resources. So far, investors 
from Australia and Asia have funded 
the explorations. 

As early as half way through 2007, DRAG 
received the first licenses in Saxony. These 
were, among others, for Gottesberg in 
Vogtland and Geyer in the Central Ore 
Mountains. Both tin resources had been 
intensively explored in GDR times. Due to 
their historic estimates, DRAG manage-
ment considered these areas as promising. 
Therefore, development of the two resourc-
es was being promoted after licensing. First 
of all, the focus was on data collection and 
evaluation. 

After the beginning of the acute phase 
of the financial crisis in September 2008, 
almost all commodity prices, including 
tin prices, reached a long-term low. Back 
then, DRAG decided to only focus on pro-
jects that were to expect to produce rela-
tively short-term returns. Tin projects were 
therefore postponed for the time being. At 
the end of 2010 and during the first half 
of 2011, tin prices and financing conditions 
for exploration companies had recovered, 
so DRAG management saw the opportunity 
to find investors for future development of 
the projects in Saxony. 

In July 2011, DRAG requested to transfer 
the two licenses to Sachsenzinn which was 
founded for this reason. Afterwards, 100 % 
of the stake was sold to the newly estab-
lished Tin International, with DRAG also 
taking over the majority stake. In Septem-
ber 2011, TIN accomplished a very success-
ful capital increase that generated roughly 
EUR 3 million. Most of the funds came from 
investors from Australia and Asia. 

In Winter 2011/2012, a drilling program on 
the two license areas was conducted. Its 
aim was to confirm the historic resource 
estimates and to create a resource esti-

Dr. Jörg Reichert 

Deposit Geologist, CEO of Sachsenzinn 
GmbH and Managing Geologist of 
DRAG, based in Chemnitz. Long-term 
experience in the leadership of explora-
tion programs, validation of commodity 
projects, and geological support in 
active commodity production. Works for 
DRAG since 2007.

Kerry Heywood 

Mining Engineer and CEO of Tin 
International in Sydney. Decades-long 
experience in the development and start 
of production of deposits all around the 
world, management of market-listed 
exploration companies in Australia. Ex-
tensive experience as mining appraiser 
for investors. 
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mate according to the Australian JORC 
Standard. Both programs were successful. 
In May 2012, the results of the TIN JORC 
study were published. In April 2012, TIN 
finalized an additional capital increase, 
which generated EUR 2.2 million. The two 

capital increases reduced DRAG’s stake in 
TIN to approximately 60 %. 

The further development of the two license 
areas is supposed to lead towards a feasi-
bility study. Given the results of the study 

are positive, the construction of a mine 
could start, followed by mining operations 
and the marketing of tin concentrates. In 
order to prepare a feasibility study, sever-
al sub-projects need to be processed, in-
cluding further refinement of the resource 
and an upgrade to the reserves category, 
test treatments, and environmental impact 
studies. 

The shareholders of TIN intend to continue 
the company’s financing through an IPO on 
the Australian ASX. The IPO is scheduled 
to take place as soon as the conditions ap-
pear to be favorable for such a measure. 
Currently, the company has sufficient cash 
resources to fund further sub-projects to-
wards a feasibility study. 

Drilling pad of Tin International in Geyer, Saxony

Metals
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Storkwitz / Delitzsch, 
GERMANY
Seltenerden Storkwitz AG
(60 % DRAG as of 31 December 2012)

Seltenerden Storkwitz AG (SES) was 
founded by DRAG in late 2011. The 
company explores and develops the 
only known rare earth deposit in Cen-
tral Europe. Financing is not provided 
by DRAG, but by investors that have so 
far provided roughly EUR 3 million in 
two capital increases. In January 2013, 
SES received a resource classification 
according to the JORC Standard.

DRAG received the license for the Storkwitz 
area in September 2007. Similar to the tin 
projects, DRAG stopped the development 
in fall 2008 due to the difficult situation on 
the market. In late 2011, DRAG founded 
Seltenerden Storkwitz. The Saxon mining 
authorities agreed on the license transferal 
from DRAG to SES in January 2012. 

The Storkwitz deposit was discovered dur-
ing uranium exploration activities in the 
1970s. This totally unexpected discovery 

was regarded a sensation back then, since 
there have never been found any compara-
ble rare earth deposits in Germany. In total 
29 wells were drilled, five of which defined 
the ore body of the area. It contains light 
rare earth elements (REE) such as cerium, 
lanthanum, praseodymium, and neodymi-
um but also significant proportions of heavy 
rare earths such as europium and yttrium.

At the end of April 2012, SES started a drill-
ing program to convert the deposit into an 
internationally approved resource accord-
ing to the Australian JORC Standard. The 
extension of the deposit towards deeper 
layers are planned to be further explored as 
a subsequent measure. Previous exploration 
activities assumed significant potential for 
such extensions. The Soviet-German urani-

Bernhard Giessel 

Business economist and Executive Board 
member of Seltenerden Storkwitz AG in 
Chemnitz. Industrial manager for many 
years and consultant with international 
management experience. Special exper-
tise in establishment and development 
of start-ups and spin-offs. 

Exploratory drilling in Storkwitz
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um company SDAG Wismut first discovered 
Storkwitz in 1975 and estimated a possible 
resource of SEE of up to 136,000 tons.

SES is planning an IPO in the 
Entry Standard on the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange in the course 

of 2013.

Apart from converting the GDR classifi-
cation into JORC Standard, the recovery 
of material that resulted from the drilling 

program was of major importance. In close 
cooperation with industrial and academic 
research, SES is working to develop new 
efficient and environmentally friendly 
methods for the production and refinement 
of rare earths. SES is planning an additional 
IPO in the Entry Standard on the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange in the course of 2013. This 
IPO is going to raise enough funds to further 
develop the Storkwitz deposit and to push 
further technological developments for the 
treatment of SEE.

Drilling core of Seltenerden Storkwitz AG

Metals
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WRIGLEY, Canada
Devonian Metals Inc. (47 % DRAG)

Devonian Metals (DM) holds a share 
of 47 % in the MacKenzie Mountain 
Metals Inc. (MMMI), which is a joint 
venture between Devonian and Alapa 
Resources, a subsidiary of Glencore 
International. MMMI develops a zinc-
lead-silver deposit in Wrigley, locat-
ed in the Canadian Northwest Territo-
ries. 

Within the scope of a contract agreed on in 
2010, Glencore invested CAD 6.5 million in 
the exploration of the project and therewith 
acquired its stake in the joint venture. 

In June 2012, Devonian pub-
lished an updated report in 

accordance with NI 43-101, the 
Canadian classification stand-
ard for estimating resources. 

The appraiser estimated the resource at ap-
proximately 9.5 million tons containing 6 % 
zinc/lead. In comparison to the last report, 
the resource was almost doubled. During 
last summer, exploration efforts focused on 
geophysical, geochemical, and metallurgi-

The drillings in Wrigley were financed by Glencore.

cal surveys. A number of new drilling tar-
gets and prospective areas were identified. 

As the project does not belong to the core 
projects of DRAG, a sale is currently under 
consideration. 
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INVESTOR &  
PUBLIC RELATIONS

Deutsche Rohstoff AG aims to provide in-
vestors, analysts, and the general public 
with comprehensive and up-to-date infor-
mation about the company and the specific 
projects. The Entry Standard stipulates the 
mandatory publications of half-year reports, 
annual financial statements, financial ca-
lendars, and “ad-hoc” reports. Furthermo-
re, interested parties will find all current re-
ports about Deutsche Rohstoff AG on their 
website at www.rohstoff.de. DRAG’s Face-
book page offers new information about all 
projects, together with photos, event noti-
fications, and important links on an almost 
daily basis. By now, DRAG has acquired 
several hundred Facebook-friends who use 
this opportunity to inform themselves about 
the global projects. For many shareholders, 
this represents a real alternative to com-

municate directly with the company. DRAG 
also presents various activities of their sub-
sidiaries in video format on YouTube. This 
provides an excellent opportunity for share-
holders and other interested parties to fol-
low latest developments of DRAG’s global 
projects. The videos are very well accepted 
and have been viewed over 27,000 times 
by now. Especially the “Corporate Video”, 
which is available in German and in English, 
provides a concise overview of the activities 
in the divisions of “Oil and Gas” as well as 
“Metals”.

The primary focus of DRAG’s IR and PR work 
in 2012 was on their activities in Germany 
and the USA. The progressions of Selten-
erden Storkwitz in relation to the appraisal 
wells are extensively documented in a new 

Investor & Public Relations

corporate video on YouTube. Considering 
the increasing importance of Tekton Ener-
gy for the Group, the company was broadly 
presented on both YouTube and Facebook 
in 2012. DRAG currently displays photos 
and video material on those two online 
platforms to inform about the first two hori-
zontal wells of Tekton Energy. 

Analyst Coverage
Analyst reports are an important instru-
ment for providing both investors and the 
media with independent information on the 
business performance of a market-listed 
company. Since 2012, First Berlin, a com-
pany headquartered in Berlin, not associa-
ted with the banking sector, as well as the 
Landesbank Baden-Württemberg (LBBW) 
based in Stuttgart, are analyzing the Group.. 

The reports are directly sent to investors but 
are also available through German finance 
portals on the Internet. They are aimed at 
both German and English speaking private 
and institutional investors. Our aim is to 
attract further analysts that wish to report 
about DRAG and the performance of the 
share. 

www.youtube.com/user/DeutscheRohstoffAG
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Share Trading
Since our shares started trading on 27 Mar-
ch 2010, DRAG shares have been included 
in the “Entry Standard” segment of the 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange with the security 
identification number: A0XYG7 and ISIN: 
DE000A0XYG76. The stock exchange code 
is: DR0. Since the beginning of 2011, the 
share has been listed under “Entry Standard 
Performance Index TOP 30“ and are now 
also included in the “DAX International Mid 
100“ as well as in the local “Rhein-Neckar-
Index”.

Share Performance and Turnover
The share quickly rose from EUR 15.10 (XE-
TRA closing price) at the beginning of 2012 
towards its annual high of EUR 16.73 on 27 

January 2012. Within a reverse trend the 
price fell to an annual low of EUR 10.52 on 
13 June 2012. In the second half of 2012 
the share price fluctuated between appro-
ximately EUR 12.00 and EUR 14.00. The year 
end closing price in 2012 was at EUR 12.50. 
The average share price (arithmetic mean) 
of 2012 was at EUR 13.47, which is exactly 
the average share price of 2011. 

The average daily trading volume for 
shares traded on the XETRA trading sys-
tem increased again to 9,763 shares in 
2012 (2011: 9,202 shares). During the fi-
nancial year of 2011, a total of 2,479,810 
shares were traded on the XETRA trading 
system. This equals approximately 50 % of 

the company’s average share capital. The 
number of shareholders rose up to 5,000 
until the end of 2012. 

Annual General Meeting and Analyst 
Conferences
The second Annual General Meeting as a 
public company was held on 25 July 2012 in 
the Stadthalle in Heidelberg. Approximately 
270 shareholders attended the meeting. All 
proposals by the management were passed 
with a large majority. 

Furthermore, DRAG attended various capi-
tal market conferences. Especially before 
and during the capital increase in Februa-
ry 2012, the company organized extensive 
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presentations for domestic and foreign in-
vestors in several German cities as well as 
in Luxemburg, London, Zurich, and Vienna.

The next Annual General Meeting will take 
place on 23 July 2013, again at the Stadt-
halle in Heidelberg.

Shareholder Structure and Capital 
Increases
The company’s share capital, which current-
ly amounts to EUR 5,322,147, is divided into 
the same number of registered shares. The 
management holds 20.3 %, BASF-VC 6 % 
and further institutional and private inve-
stors 73.7 %. In mid-April 2013, about 5,500 
shareholders were registered in the DRAG 

share register, which equals an increase 
of approximately 22 % within the past 12 
months. 

There have been two additional capital in-
creases since early 2012:

Within the scope of a real capital increase, 
the share capital was initially increased 
from EUR 27,721 to EUR 4,561,841 as of 31 
January 2012 in order to purchase the entire 
Wolfram Camp Mine in Australia.

On 7 March 2012, the share capital was 
increased by an additional EUR 760,306 in 
line with a capital increase with sharehol-
ders’ subscription rights. The purchase price 

per share amounted to EUR 14.20. During 
the course of the capital increase, a gross 
amount of EUR 10.8 million flowed into the 
company. This was primarily used to finance 
the drilling program and oil production by 
Tekton Energy in the USA and to expand the 
tungsten production in Australia. 

With an average number of 4,951,000 indi-
vidual shares in 2012, the profit per share 
amounted to EUR 0.46 on the basis of the 
net consolidated profit for 2012. 

Lenders
In late 2012, DRAG had taken on a loan with 
a major European bank that amounted to 
EUR 4,85 million for the purpose of financing 
the preparation and expansion of the ope-
rations at Wolfram Camp. In February 2013, 
the loan was increased by EUR 2.4 million. 
The term of the loan runs until the end of 
2016 and is being repaid from 2013 until the 
end of 2016. Furthermore, DRAG was given 
a loan by a private lender at the beginning 
of 2012, which amounts to EUR 2 million. 

Admission at the Annual General Meeting 2012 
at the Stadthalle Heidelberg
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Press Review
During the course of 2012, various print and 
online media reported about DRAGs dome-
stic and foreign business activities. Even TV 
channels like the German ZDF or MDR have 
yet again reported on our projects, especial-
ly the ones in Germany. 

Apart from the local newspaper “Rhein-
Neckar-Zeitung”, also the German “SPIEGEL 
Online”, the German newspaper “FAZ”, and 
the Australian newspaper “Cairns Post” re-
ported on DRAGs projects. On behalf of the 
financial press, the German financial paper 
“Der Aktionär” and the magazine “Smart In-
vestor” presented the DRAG Group to their 
individual readership. 

Geologie: Firma Rhein Petroleum untersucht im Herbst
Gesteinsschichten unter dem Stadtgebiet / Geschäftsführer schließt
Schäden aus

Ölsucher lassen den Boden vibrieren
Von unserem Redaktionsmitglied Wolfram Köhler

Viernheim. "Man stelle sich einen Fußballplatz vor: Der Zahnarzt sitzt in dem
einen Tor und verpasst dem Patienten, der im anderen Gehäuse sitzt, eine
Füllung." So beschreibt Rhein-Petroleum-Geschäftsführer Dr. Michael Suana die
moderne Technik, um Erdöl zu fördern - nicht in Arabien oder der Nordsee,
sondern dem südhessischen Ried.

Bis es so weit ist, werden vermutlich noch eineinhalb bis zwei Jahre vergehen.
Begonnen hat das Heidelberger Unternehmen vor einigen Wochen aber bereits
mit der Suche nach dem Schwarzen Gold auf einem insgesamt 240
Quadratmeter großen Terrain. Für Aufsehen gesorgt haben die 90 Mitarbeiter
der beauftragten polnischen Spezialfirma für seismologische Messungen etwa
in Bürstadt, wo drei Fahrzeuge mittels einer Bodenplatte Vibrationen bis in
mehrere Kilometer Tiefe auslösten. 15 000 bis 20 000 Geophone zeichneten
die Reflexionen der Gesteinsschichten auf.

Dreidimensionale Landkarte

Laut Pressesprecher Marcus Gernsbeck entsteht bei der Untersuchung nach
dem Prinzip des Echolots eine "dreidimensionale Landkarte" (3D-Seismik). In
Viernheim wird das "rollende Messsystem" - wegen der bevorstehenden
Brutzeit - voraussichtlich erst im Herbst zum Einsatz kommen.

Dass die Spezialisten ausgerechnet die Rheinebene unter die Lupe nehmen, hat
seinen Grund. "Hier wurde früher schon eine Million Tonnen Erdöl gefördert,
deswegen gehen wir davon aus, noch welches zu finden", erklärt Geologe
Suana.

In Stockstadt etwa zeugt eine alte Pumpe als Industriedenkmal von den
Arbeiten, die bis in die neunziger Jahre hinein dauerten. Dr. Michael Suana
hofft nun, die gleiche Menge von damals noch einmal zu fördern. Die Technik
sei inzwischen besser und effizienter, zudem kostengünstig. "Bei diesen
Ölpreisen lohnt sich das."

Entsprechend nüchtern betrachtet Erster Stadtrat Martin Ringhof das
bevorstehende Projekt. Durch die Marktveränderungen werde es "interessant,
auch nach schwierigen Ölvorkommen zu suchen". Da geförderte Rohstoffe in
diesem Fall Eigentum des Landes wären, blieben an der Stadt Viernheim
allenfalls Steuereinnahmen hängen. Aber auch da sei "kein Quantensprung" zu
erwarten, so Ringhof.

Zunächst gilt es - nach Abschluss der Messungen - Terabytes an Daten
auszuwerten, um anschließend eventuell eine Probebohrung durchzuführen.
Erst wenn Gewissheit über ein Ölvorkommen herrscht, kommt es zur

Viernheim: Ölsucher lassen den Boden vibrieren http://www.morgenweb.de/region/viernheim/20120113_mm...

1 von 2 13.01.2012 10:15 Uhr
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Erdöl im Südwesten

Das schwarze Gold soll wieder sprudeln
Von Almut Siefert, aktualisiert am 08.06.2012 um 19:12

Am Ortsrand von Pfullendorf erinnert eine Erdölpumpe an die dortige Förderung. Bald
könnten neue Ölvorkommen im Land angezapft werden. Foto:

Karlsruhe - Am 16. Mai machten sich die Spezialwagen der Rhein Petroleum GmbH ein
letztes Mal auf den Weg. Seit Januar waren die sogenannten Vibro-Fahrzeuge zwischen
Karlsruhe und Graben-Neudorf auf einer Fläche von rund 270 Quadratkilometern unterwegs.
Etwa alle 40 Meter machten sie auf den vorher festgelegten Routen halt. Spezielle
Bodenplatten, die zwischen Vorder- und Hinterachse der Fahrzeuge montiert sind, wurden
nach unten gelassen und begannen zu vibrieren. Dadurch wurden Schallwellen in den
Untergrund gesendet. Rund 20.000 zuvor platzierte Erdmikrofone nahmen das Echo der
Wellen wieder auf.

Diese Aufnahmen sollen nun Aufschluss über mögliche Erdölvorkommen in der Gegend
geben. Mehrere Terabyte Daten wurden in den vergangenen Monaten gesammelt. Auch im
bayerischen Mindelheim im Kreis Unterallgäu und in Hessen entlang des Oberrheins
zwischen Mannheim und Darmstadt wurden solche seismischen Untersuchungen
durchgeführt. In den kommenden acht Wochen werden diese Grunddaten von Geologen und
Geophysikern in einer 3-D-Karte zusammengefügt. Darauf können die Experten erkennen, wo
mögliche Erdölreserven in der Erde schlummern. Probebohrungen, die diese letztendlich
bestätigen müssten, sind bereits für Ende des Jahres in Planung.

 

SELTENE ERDEN

Erste Bohrungen auf Milliarden-Acker geplant

Von Außen unscheinbar: Der Milliarden-Acker bei StorkwitzFoto: Benjamin Weinkauf

 — 13.01.2012 00:27 UHR

Leipzig – Der Milliarden-Acker von Storkwitz – jetzt soll der Schatz endlich gehoben werden!

Seit den 70er Jahren ist bekannt, dass im Ortsteil Storkwitz rund 40 000 Tonnen sogenannte Seltene Erden lagern. Das
sind Metalle, die in der Hightech-Branche dringend gebraucht werden – für Akkus, Handys oder Fernseher. Nun
kündigte die Deutsche Rohstoff AG für die kommenden Wochen Bohrungen in der 

 an, nachdem sie sich die Lizenz
dafür schon 2007 gesichert hatte.

Lagerstätte Link:
(/regional/leipzig/seltene-erden/rohstoff-vorkommen-bei-leipzig-21818122.bild.html)

Die Firma hat für die einzige Lagerstätte Mitteleuropas nun eigens die Tochterfirma „Seltenerden Storkwitz“
gegründet, will mit ihr noch 2012 an die Börse gehen.
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Seltene Erden in Sachsen - Konkurrenz für
Weltmarktführer China?
In Storkwitz wurden Seltene Erden gefunden. Eigentlich eine
Sensation, wenn man bedenkt, dass wir von Seltenen Erden
abhängig sind und China im Prinzip Monopolist im Abbau der
wichtigen Metalle ist. +++

Seltene Erden sind Metalle, die weltweit nicht zwingend selten vorkommen, jedoch nur
in winzigen Mengen und sehr schwer abbaubar. Große Flächen kommen dagegen
selten vor.

Zu den Metallen der Seltenen Erden, so der korrekte Name, gehören insgesamt 17
Elemente. Dazu gehören die Lanthanoide und die Elemente der dritten Gruppe des
Periodensystems, zum Beispiel Scandium, Neodym oder Lathan.

Neodym wird zum Beispiel für Dauermagnete benötigt, wie sie in Windkraftanlagen,
Kernspintomografen oder Hybridautos Verwendung finden. Auch Plasmafernseher,
LEDs oder Handys sind ohne diese Seltenen Erden undenkbar.

China hat das weltweit größte Vorkommen an Seltenen Erden und fördert diese auch.
Das Land produziert 97 Prozent der weltweiten Menge. Die Weltmarktpreise für die
Metalle sind in der letzten Zeit enorm gestiegen, weil China seinen Export sim letzten
Jahr immer weiter eingeschränkt hat.

Das wäre doch DIE Chance, mitten in der Wirtschaftskrise Profit zu machen. Doch auch
international versuchen nun viele Länder, Seltene Erden zu fördern und somit
unabhängig zu werden von China, was diese Elemente angeht.

Die Deutsche Rohstoff AG aus Heidelberg hat sich die Rechte an dem Vorkommen
schon 2007 gesichert. Entdeckt wurden sie schon von der DDR, als sie in den 1970er
Jahren Bohrungen auf der Suche nach Uran durchführten. Bei 29 Bohrungen in dem
Gebiet konnte der Erzkörper bisher durch fünf Bohrungen definiert werden. Er beinhaltet
leichte SEE (Seltene Erden Elemente, Anm. d. Redaktion) wie Cer, Lanthan, Praseodym
und Neodym aber auch schwere Seltenerden wie Europium und Yttrium. 

Die Deutsche Rohstoff AG hat die "Seltenerden Storkwitz AG" gegründet, die dieses
Jahr mit den ersten Probebohrungen beginnen soll und auch den Börsengang wagen
wird.  

Dr. Titus Gebel, Vorstand und CEO der Deutsche Rohstoff AG: ” Die einzige
Seltenerden-Lagerstätte Mitteleuropas kann nun zügig weiter entwickelt werden kann.
Seit DDR-Zeiten sind sich die Geologen einig, dass diese Lagerstätte zur Tiefe hin noch
deutlich wachsen kann. Die Seltenerden Storkwitz AG verfügt über Zugang zu den
besten Experten".

Ob und wieviel Vorkommen der Seltenen Erden sich unter der Erde von Storkwitz
befinden, ist unklar. Geschätzt wird es auf 38.000 Tonnen und zusätzlich 8.000 Tonnen
Niob, welches verwendet wird um Spezialstähle herzustellen.

Man darf jedoch nicht vergessen, dass der Abbau dieser Metalle sehr schwer ist und
nicht sicher ist, wieviel von ihnen tatsächlich in Storkwitz zu finden sein werden.

In Zukunft mehr Braunkohle - Leipziger Umland droht
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„Wir erwarten eine Wachstumsstrategie“
Rainer Wagner, Betriebsratsvorsitzender der Heidelberger Druckmaschinen AG, zum Führungswechsel im Unternehmen

Von Thomas Veigel

Heidelberg/Wiesloch. Rainer Wagner ist
seit 37 Jahren Mitarbeiter der Heidel-
berger Druckmaschinen AG – zwei Mo-
nate länger als Vorstandsvorsitzender
Bernhard Schreier. Wagner hat im Un-
ternehmen den Beruf des Werkzeugma-
chers gelernt. Seit 1990 ist er Betriebs-
rat, 1999 wurde er stellvertretender und
im Jahr 2005 Vorsitzender der traditio-
nell starken Arbeitnehmervertretung des
Weltmarktführers für Bogendruckma-
schinen. In den Verhandlungen mit der
Unternehmensleitung über Stellenabbau
und Arbeitszeitverkürzung hat er rich-
tungsweisende Vereinbarungen getrof-
fen, die selbst beim Abbau von tausen-
den Stellen betriebsbedingte Kündi-
gungen im großen Stil verhindert haben.

Mit der RNZ sprach der Betriebs-
ratsvorsitzende und stellvertretende
Aufsichtsratsvorsitzende über den be-
schlossenen Führungswechsel im Un-
ternehmen.

> Herr Wagner, Sie haben manchen
Kampf mit Bernhard Schreier ausge-
fochten und sind gut miteinander aus-
gekommen. Warum haben Sie ihn nicht
überredet, seinen Vertrag verlängern zu
lassen?

Wir waren mit dem Aufsichtsratsvorsit-
zenden Robert Koehler einig, dass ein ex-
terner Manager mit neuem Schwung das
Unternehmen nach vorne bringen muss,
nachdem Herr Schreier signalisiert hat-
te, dass er nicht mehr weitermachen wird.
Bernhard Schreier hat nun die Weichen
dafür gestellt, dass Gerold Linzbach er-
folgreich arbeiten kann.

> Warum haben Sie und die fünf anderen
Arbeitnehmervertreter dem Kandida-
ten des Aufsichtsratsvorsitzenden ein-
stimmig ins Amt verholfen?

Wir sind beeindruckt vom Engagement
des Herrn Koehler für das Unternehmen
und wir waren überzeugt von Gerold
Linzbach.

> Was hat Sie überzeugt?
Gerold Linzbach entsprach dem Profil,
das wir für den Nachfolger von Herrn
Schreier aufgestellt hatten. Er sollte Mit-
te 50, also ein erfahrener Manager sein

und er sollte Erfahrung mit Unterneh-
men in schwierigen Situationen haben.
Meistens wurde Herrn Linzbach von Un-
ternehmen gerufen, die Probleme hatten.
Symrise ist das bekannteste Beispiel. 2005
übernahm er den Vorstandsvorsitz des
Aromenherstellers, initiierte eine
Wachstumsstrategie und brachte es an die
Börse und in den MDax. Symrise war vier
Jahre lang das am schnellsten wachsen-
de Industrieunternehmen Deutschlands.
Gerold Linzbach kann also sanieren und
Wachstum in die Wege leiten, er denkt
strategisch und ist offen für Neues. Wir
sind froh, dass er zu Heidelberg kommt,
denn er hatte noch andere Angebote.

> Was erwarten Sie von Gerold Linz-
bach?

Wir erwarten keine Sanierungs-, son-
dern eine Wachstumsstrategie. Dabei
werden wir Arbeitnehmervertreter ihn

mit aller Kraft unterstützen. Er ist dies-
bezüglich unvoreingenommen und offen,
auch für neue Geschäftsfelder außerhalb
der grafischen Industrie. Das war für uns
ganz wichtig, denn im bisherigen Vor-
stand fehlte uns dazu die letzte, absolute
uneingeschränkte Bereitschaft. Dies war
für uns mit ein Grund für einen externen
Kandidaten.

> Das klingt alles sehr optimistisch. Ha-
ben Sie keine Angst vor strukturellen
Veränderungen?

Es ist ein positives Unwohlsein, denn man
kann seinem gegenüber nur auf den Kopf
schauen und nicht hinein. Ich bin schon
positiv eingestellt, aber wir wissen eben
nicht, was auf uns zukommt. Aber wie ge-
sagt – eine Sanierung steht nicht an, das
Unternehmen ist mit seinen neuen Pro-
dukten gut aufgestellt. Sicherlich wird
Herr Linzbach die Frage nach der Not-

wendigkeit der Komplexität und Pro-
zessvielfalt im Unternehmen stellen. Auf
die Antworten sind wir gespannt. Aber
wir sind selbstbewusst, wir laufen vor
aufkommenden Themen nicht weg.

> Was behalten Sie von Herrn Schreier in
Erinnerung?

Er war trotz aller Auseinandersetzungen
immer dennoch fair. Es verdient unsere
Anerkennung, dass er immer bereits war,
den Heidelberger Weg des Konsenses
mitzugehen und aufrecht zu erhalten. Er
war immer bereits, beim Stellenabbau
nach sozialverträglichen Lösungen zu
suchen und umzusetzen. Ich denke nur an
dieTransfergesellschaft,diefinanziellgut
ausgestattet wurde. Dass wir mit der
Strategie nicht immer ganz einverstan-
den waren, ist bekannt.

Rainer Wagner führt als Betriebsratsvorsitzender eine selbstbewusste Arbeitnehmer-Vertretung bei der Heidelberger Druckmachinen AG. Sie
hat den künftigen Vorstandsvorsitzenden Gerold Linzbach einstimmig gewählt uns setzt große Hoffnungen auf ihn. Foto: Veigel

In Heidelberg kann Linzbach sein Meisterstück machen
Auf der Heideldruck-Hauptversammlung wird er heute nicht auftreten – Kritik von Aktionären erwartet

Heidelberg. (tv) Mit seinem vorzeitigen
Rücktritt hat Bernhard Schreier seinen
Kritikern einigen Wind aus den Segeln
genommen. Dennoch wird er sich heute
auf seiner letzten Hautpversammlung als
Vorstandsvorsitzender der Heidelberger
Druckmaschinen AG keine Lobeshym-
nen anhören dürfen. Er wird sich vor al-
lem fragen lassen müssen, warum das Un-
ternehmen vier Jahre in Folge dreistel-
lige Millionenverluste erwirtschaftet hat.

Das für die Aktionäre bitterste Er-
gebnis der endlos scheinenden Krise ist
der Absturz der Aktie. Sie hat rund 98
Prozent an Wert verloren, gestern no-
tierte sie zum Xetra-Schluss mit 97 Cent
unter einem Euro und ist damit ein so-
genannter „Pennystock“, ein Pfennig-
papier. Einige Anteilseigner machten ih-
rem Ärger schon im Voraus Luft und
stellten von Enttäuschung geprägte Ge-
genanträge, meist mit dem Tenor, dem
Vorstand die Entlastung zu verweigern.

Bernhard Schreier wird am 1. Sep-
tember von Gerold Linzbach als Vor-
standsvorsitzer abgelöst. Er bleibt aber
noch bis zum Jahresende und wird sei-
nen Nachfolger an den Heidelberg-
Standorten und bei den wichtigsten Kun-
den vorstellen. Um das Unternehmen
kennen zu lernen, hat Linzbach jeden-
falls den besten Berater. Der Job bei Hei-

deldruck dürfte für den promovierten
Chemiker der bisherige Höhepunkt sei-
ner Karriere sein. Als Chemiker hat Linz-
bach nur kurz als Leiter einer For-
schungsgruppe gearbeitet. Danach

wechselte er ins Management-Fach. Zu-
nächst als Berater bei McKinsey, wo er
Projekte vorwiegend im Bereich der Pro-
zessindustrie leitete. Bei der Hoechst AG
wurde er Leiter der Unternehmenspla-

nung. Der damalige Hoechst-Chef, der
Heidelberger Jürgen Dormann, soll ihn in
sein Strategieteam berufen haben, weil
ihm Linzbach als Querdenker aufgefal-
len war.

Nachdem Dormann Hoechst zer-
schlagen hatte, übernahm Linzbach lei-
tende Funktionen bei Nachfolgefirmen.
Die Financial Times Deutschland be-
schreibt Linzbach als unkonventionell,
locker und jovial. In der Sache gilt er aber
als durchsetzungsstark. Mehrmals soll
sich Linzbach eine Pause vom Berufsle-
ben gegönnt haben und ein neues Man-
dat angenommen haben, wenn ein Un-
ternehmen in der Krise steckte oder ei-
nen neuen Chef brauchte. So war es 2005,
alserzumAromenherstellerSymrisekam.
Er machte das Unternehmen fit für die
Börse und nahm sich 2009 die nächste
Auszeit, unter anderem um seiner Le-
bensgefährtin in ihrem Restaurant in
Frankfurt zu unterstützen. Sein bisher
letzter Job führte ihn an die Spitze des
Callcenter-Betreibers D+S Europe, das
sich gerade von seinem Chef getrennt hat-
te. Jetzt war er wieder frei und nahm das
Angebot an, das ihm sein früherer Chef
bei Hoechst, Heideldruck-Aufsichtsrat-
schef Robert Koehler gemacht hatte. In
Heidelberg kann Linzbach sein Meis-
terstück machen.

Daumen hoch: Der Börsengang von Symrise im Jahr 2006 war ein Triumph für Gerold Linz-
bach. Als zukünftiger Chef der Heidelberger Druckmaschinen AG werden ebenfalls Großta-
ten von ihm erwartet. Foto: dpa

Rohstoff AG
denkt an
Dividende

Hauptversammlung
in Heidelberg

Von Harald Berlinghof

Heidelberg. „Ich fordere die Industrie auf,
eine Deutsche Rohstoff AG zu gründen“,
sagte der ehemalige FDP-Bundeswirt-
schaftsminister im November 2010. Ein
Blick nach Heidelberg hätte genügt, und
er hätte erkannt, dass es da seit 2006 ein
Unternehmen exakt gleichen Namens
bereits gibt.

Gestern nun legten die beiden Grün-
der und gegenwärtigen Vorstände des
Unternehmens Titus Gebel und Thomas
Gutschlag vor ihren Aktionären Re-
chenschaft für das abgelaufene Jahr 2011
und den Start ins Jahr 2012 ab. Und als
Heidelberger Unternehmen hatte man
sich entschieden, die Hauptversamm-
lung in der Heidelberger Stadthalle ab-
zuhalten. „Auch wenn die Stadthalle re-
lativ teuer ist“, so Thomas Gutschlag.
Deshalb ließ man die Aktionäre auch da-
rüber abstimmen, ob das Unternehmen in
den nächsten Jahren in einen Standort bis
zu einer Entfernung von 50 Kilometern
ausweichen darf. „Es ist zwar schön hier,
aber es ist schließlich auch ihr Geld“, so
Vorstand Gebel.

Die deutsche Rohstoff AG hat im Jahr
2011 mit einem Konzerngewinn in Höhe
von 10,82 Millionen Euro das erfolg-
reichste Jahr ihrer Geschichte zu ver-
zeichnen. Allerdings, so ein Aktionärs-
vertreter, sei dies auch ein außerordent-
liches Ergebnis, weil darin rund 8,1 Mil-
lionen Euro für den Verkauf von 55 Pro-
zent der Anteile an Rhein Petroleum ste-
cken. Trotzdem erwartet Thomas Gut-
schlag, dass man spätestens 2013 dieses
Rekordniveau noch einmal überbieten
kann. Bereits auf der nächsten Haupt-
versammlung soll für das Jahr 2012 erst-
mals eine Dividende an die Aktionäre ge-
zahlt werden. Die Höhe steht noch nicht
fest, könnte aber, so ist zu hören, bei 30
Cent liegen.

Für 2012 30 Cent Dividende?

Wenn es um Gold oder Wolfram in
Australien geht, um Zinn aus dem Erz-
gebirge oder um Seltenerden (insgesamt
17 verschiedene Metalle) aus Storkwitz -
die Deutsche Rohstoff AG ist mit eige-
nen Unternehmen oder Beteiligungen
dabei. Auch beim schwer zu hebenden
Schiefer-Erdöl ist man mit Tekton Ener-
gy in den USA mit am Ball.

Die sogenannte Fracking-Technolo-
gie, die es erlaubt, diese Erdölschichten
profitabel zu nutzen, könnte mittelfristig
den Erdölpreis ins rutschen bringen,
meint man bei der Deutschen Rohstoff
AG. Die USA sollen damit auf dem bes-
ten Weg sein, beim Erdöl bis Mitte der
2020er Jahre zum Selbstversorger zu
werden. „Damit wird der Nachfrage-
druck sinken und das Preisniveau könn-
te nach unten gehen“, glauben die bei-
den Vorstände.

Auch die sogenannten Horizontal-
bohrungen in erdölführenden Schichten
sollen die Ausbeute verbessern. Solche
Bohrungen sollen auch im Oberrhein-
graben um das hessische Stockstadt he-
rum eingesetzt werden durch Rhein Pet-
roleum, an der man nach wie vor 25 Pro-
zent der Anteile hält. Die neuen Tech-
nologien sollen ein enormes Potenzial
bieten. Gebel spricht von einer Revolu-
tion in der Erdölförderung. „Und wir sind
mit dabei“, betont er. Die Schwierig-
keiten in Sachen Sicherheit und Um-
weltschutz seien lösbar. Alleine die falsch
angewandte Bohrtechnik habe in der
Vergangenheit zu Problemen geführt
nicht das Verfahren an sich. Mit verbes-
serten Sicherheitsauflagen könne man
den Befürchtungen entgegen treten.

Viele Rohstoffe wie die Seltenerden,
die in vielen High-Tech Geräten zum Ein-
satz kommen, oder das härteste Metall
Wolfram, das im Maschinenbau als Boh-
rerlegierung aber auch im Vibrations-
motor der Handys relativ verschleißfrei
funktioniert, sind fest in der Hand der
Chinesen, die versuchen diese Stoffe
künstlich zu verknappen und die Preise
damit hoch zu treiben.

Mit dem Goldboom im australischen
Georgetown ist es bei der Deutschen Roh-
stoff AG allerdings zunächst vorbei. Die
oberflächennahen Lagerstätten sind mit
Gewinn ausgebeutet, jetzt geht es an das
„sulfidische Gold“ in größeren Tiefen.
Und das möchte man lieber jemand an-
derem überlassen. Das Projekt sei ins-
gesamt zu klein und soll verkauft wer-
den. „Wir wollen schließlich wachsen“, so
Gutschlag. Ein Teil des Geschäftsmo-
dellssiehtbeiderdeutschenWerkstoffAG
auch vor, dass man Projekte übernimmt,
entwickelt und dann mit Gewinn weiter
verkauft. „Was zu unserer Strategie passt
und sich lohnt, wollen wir aber gerne län-
gerfristig behalten“, so Gebel.

Europas Autokrise bremst Daimler
An seiner Jahresprognose will der Autobauer festhalten – Die Börse quittierte das mit einem kräftigen Aufschlag auf den Aktienkurs

Stuttgart/Mannheim. (dpa/RNZ) Die
schwache Autokonjunktur in Europa
bremst den erfolgsverwöhnten Auto-
bauer Daimler aus. Unterm Strich ver-
dienten die Schwaben im zweiten Quar-
tal 2012 rund 1,5 Milliarden Euro - ein
Rückgang von 11 Prozent verglichen mit
dem Vorjahreszeitraum. Das teilte die
Daimler AG am Mittwoch in Stuttgart
mit. Spekulationen, Daimler könnte sich
deswegen zu einer Gewinnwarnung ge-
nötigt sehen, bestätigten sich indes nicht.

Der Autobauer hält vorerst an den
ehrgeizigen Zielen für das selbst erklärte
„Übergangsjahr“ fest. „Auf Basis der
derzeitigen Markterwartungen und der
Planungen der Geschäftsfelder streben

wirfürDaimler2012einErgebnisausdem
laufenden Geschäft in der Größenord-
nung des Vorjahres an“, bekräftigte
Daimler-Chef Dieter Zetsche.

Er deutete aber auch an, dass dahin-
ter mittlerweile zumindest ein Frage-
zeichen steht: Die Konjunktur sei „in bei-
nahe allen Regionen von Unsicherheiten
und Risiken geprägt“. 2011 hatte das ope-
rative Ergebnis bei rund 9 Milliarden Eu-
ro gelegen. Auf halber Wegstrecke ver-
buchte Daimler in diesem Jahr ein Er-
gebnis vor Zinsen und Steuern (EBIT) von
rund 4,4 Milliarden Euro, nach 4,6 Mil-
liarden in der ersten Hälfte 2011.

Am Aktienmarkt sorgten die Daim-
ler-Zahlen für ein positives Echo: Mit ei-

nem Kurssprung von bis zu 6 Prozent auf
zeitweise mehr als 38,3 Euro lag die
Daimler-Aktie mit Abstand an der Spit-
ze des Börsenbarometers Dax.

Daimler hatte im ersten Halbjahr 2012
insgesamt zwar weltweit so viele Autos
abgesetzt wie noch nie. Allerdings
schwächte sich die Entwicklung im Juni
angesichts der schwachen Wirtschafts-
lage in Europa weiter ab. Mit 131 139 ver-
kauften Autos legte der Absatz zuletzt nur
noch um 0,2 Prozent gegenüber dem Vor-
jahr zu. Sorgenkind blieb die Bussparte
des Konzerns mit einem Umsatzrück-
gang von 13 Prozent auf rund 1 Milliarde
Euro und weiterhin roten Zahlen. „Die
Lage ist ohne Zweifel ernst. Aber wir ver-

fügen dem neuen Citaro nach Abgas-
norm Euro VI und den neuen Setra-Rei-
sebusmodellen über hervorragende Pro-
dukte, die auch in schwierigen Zeiten
Kunden überzeugen,“ sagte Hartmut
Schick, Chef des Daimler-Busgeschäfts.
„Das in Mannheim angesiedelte Stadt-
busgeschäft bleibt sehr schwierig,“ sagte
Wolfgang Hänle, Geschäftsführer der
Busproduktion.

Aufgefangen wird dies zumindest
teilweise vom brummenden Geschäft mit
Lkw. Das operative Ergebnis der Sparte
Trucks legte im zweiten Quartal um 8
Prozent zu und steuert damit inzwischen
fast ein Viertel (23 Prozent) zum Ergeb-
nis bei.
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I. Business and economic environment

1) Group structure
As of 31 December 2012, the Deutsche Rohstoff Group comprised 
the following nine group companies:

· Deutsche Rohstoff AG, Heidelberg 

· Seltenerden Storkwitz AG, Chemnitz (60.04 %)

· �Sachsenzinn GmbH, Chemnitz  
(100 %, indirectly via Tin International Ltd.)

· Wolfram Camp Mining Pty. Ltd., Australia (100 %)

· Tin International Ltd., Australia (60.33 %)

· Tropical Metals Pty. Ltd., Australia (100 %)

· Deutsche Rohstoff USA Inc., USA (100 %) 

· �Tekton Energy LLC, USA  
(63.9 %, indirectly via Deutsche Rohstoff USA Inc., USA)

· �Tekton Windsor LLC, USA 
(100 %, indirectly via Tekton Energy LLC, USA)

As of 31 December 2011, there was also Deutsche Rohstoff Aus-
tralia Pty. Ltd. which belonged to the consolidated group alongside 
the companies above and was sold in October 2012.

2) Equity investments 
As of 31 December 2012, Deutsche Rohstoff AG also held equity 
investments of 10 % in Rhein Petroleum GmbH, Heidelberg, and 
of 47 % in Devonian Metals Ltd. in Canada. On 31 December 
2011, the equity investment in Rhein Petroleum GmbH amounted 
to 25 %, falling in September 2012 through the sale of a further 
15 % of the shares in Rhein Petroleum GmbH to its balance as 
of year-end. Rhein Petroleum is involved in petroleum explora-
tion and extraction in southern Germany, while Devonian Metals 
carries out exploration at a zinc/lead/silver deposit in Wrigley 
(Canada).

3) Business activities
The Deutsche Rohstoff Group has become an international re-
sources producer. The number of group companies in the reporting 
period stood at ten, falling to nine following the sale of Deutsche 
Rohstoff Australia.

In fiscal year 2012 there were two active divisions: Oil & Gas and 
Metals. The Gold & Silver division, which was still active in the 
prior year, was no longer operative as a result of ending gold pro-
duction at the end of 2011 and selling the mine in September 2012. 
Deutsche Rohstoff AG acts as an active group holding company 
that purchases existing companies or develops new projects itself 
and assumes their financing. In all cases, operative local man-
agement is carried out by experienced, local experts. In order to 
reduce the project risk, in particular for larger deposits, Deutsche 
Rohstoff AG allows partners to share in the corresponding licenses 
if necessary.

As of the end of fiscal year 2012, the Deutsche Rohstoff Group 
had equity investments in companies and maintained production 
sites in Germany, Australia, Canada and the US. All of these 
involve oil and gas extraction or mining based on customary 
extraction and processing technology. As a result, the group 
companies only carry out their own research and development 
activity to a minor extent. 

In the fiscal year, the Deutsche Rohstoff Group focused on ex-
panding its activities in the area of petroleum exploration and 
extraction in the US.

Customers for the resources produced include melting houses 
(smelting works) for the metal resources, refineries for the oil, 
and gas supply companies that operate pipeline grids for the 
gas. In the case of tungsten, the first deliveries of concentrates 
to Global Tungsten and Powders GTP, one of the largest proces-
sors of tungsten outside of China, have been underway since 
February 2012. 

For all resources traded on the stock exchange (gold, silver, oil, 
tin, copper, etc.), pricing is not a problem, as the buyer pays the 
current market price if the product supplied fulfills the pre-agreed 
specifications. In these cases, the competitive position also plays 
a subordinate role, as customers will purchase almost any amount 
in the market situation that has been predominant for some years 
now, which is characterized by growing demand. 

The situation is somewhat different for resources that are not 
traded on the stock exchange, for example tungsten. In this re-
gard, Wolfram Camp Mining Pty. (WCM) and Deutsche Rohstoff 
AG (DRAG) concluded a purchase agreement with GTP initially 
running for a term of five years. Pricing for the respective tung-
sten deliveries is based on current published prices for contracts 
negotiated globally. This agreement was revised and amended in 
February 2013 (see comments under “Subsequent events”).
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4) Overall economic development
Global economic growth slowed perceptibly in 2012 compared to 
the prior year. After a positive start to the year, the sovereign debt 
crisis intensified once again in several countries in the euro zone. 
The economy also suffered from dampening effects from the emerg-
ing economies. This caused global GDP growth (2.3 %) to fall short 
of the 2011 level (up 2.7 %). 2012 was shaped by major economic 
fluctuations. After showing positive development at the beginning 
of the year, the early economic indicators became increasingly bleak 
as the year progressed. The intensification of the debt crisis in the 
euro zone was the main reason for unsettling investors and con-
sumers. Following the resolutions taken by the ECB to strengthen 
the euro, the approval of the fiscal pact and implementation of a 
“European Stability Mechanism” (ESM), the situation on the capital 
markets showed signs of improvement. However, companies and 
private households remained cautious as a result of the persistent 
risks in the real economy in the euro zone and the US. 

5) Development of the commodities markets 
The oldest commodities future index known around the world, the 
CRB (Commodity Research Bureau) again slipped slightly from 305 
to 295 index points or 3.4 % from 1 January to 31 December 2012. 

For the main resources traded on the stock exchange, the price de-
velopment varied over the course of 2012 with volatility levels high. 
For example, the price of gold only rose by 3.2 % from USD 1,580 to 
USD 1,630 per ounce over the course of the year, with the lowest price 
dropping to USD 1,580 at the beginning of 2012 and the highest reach-
ing USD 1,760 in August. Tin prices increased considerably by 20.0 % 
over the year, with the price per metric ton (mt) reaching a year-high of 
USD 25,000 in March 2012 and amounting to USD 22,800 at the end 
of December after bottoming out at USD 17,600 in August. In March 
2013 the price was in the region of USD 23,000 per mt. 

Over the course of the year, the prices for the 17 rare earth metals 
could not be maintained at the level from year-end 2011 and de-
creased significantly. It must be taken into account, however, that the 
prices had in some cases increased ten-fold by 2011. The index for 
rare earths (UBS Stoxx Global Rare Earth) fell from 18 to 12 points over 
the course of 2012 (33 %). At the beginning of March 2013, it was just 
short of the prior-year closing value. China’s largest rare earth com-
panies are reacting to the continuing fall in prices for rare earths and 
have been closing many factories since the end of 2012, temporarily 
at least. Since the beginning of 2013, the prices of certain rare earth 
metals have seen a slight resurgence, at least on the Chinese market. 

The most important resources for the Deutsche Rohstoff Group at 
present, which will make the largest contribution to total operat-

ing performance and group earnings as of 2013, have developed 
at highly differing rates since the beginning of 2012:

The price of tungsten decreased from USD 425/MTU (1 MTU/met-
ric ton unit corresponds to roughly 10 kg) to 298 USD/MTU (down 
30 %) by the end of the year. The positive price development from 
the prior year was fully depleted, primarily as a result of prices 
falling at an accelerated rate in the final quarter of 2012 from USD 
360/MTU to USD 298/MTU. In March 2013, however, the price 
was back at USD 350/MTU.

North Sea Brent crude prices rose slightly by 0.9 % from USD 110 
per barrel to USD 111 per barrel from 1 January 2012 to 31 De-
cember 2012. By contrast, prices for the leading US grade WTI 
decreased in the same period, by 9 % from USD 99 to USD 90. WTI 
prices ranged between USD 110 (March) and USD 80 (June), while 
Brent prices were between USD 125 (March) and USD 90 (June). 
In March 2013, prices per barrel were approximately USD 107 for 
Brent and approximately USD 93 for WTI. Since 2011, the price for 
these two types of oil has been relatively stable at a high level.

6) Development of the industry and competition
The global commodities industry exhibited varied development in 
2012. Persistently high oil prices again resulted in high profit for 
the manufacturing companies operating in the sector. By contrast, 
in the Metals division some areas reported a fall in demand and 
prices due to weaker economic development in China, the US and 
Europe. Major producers reported high depreciation on individual 
mines for 2012. Rio Tinto, as one of the three largest producers 
in the world, generated a loss for the first time in its history. The 
financing conditions for young exploration companies deteriorated 
considerably over the course of the year. 

The Deutsche Rohstoff Group benefited from the high oil price in 
the US. The prices for the niche metals tungsten, tin and rare earths 
fell considerably over the course of the year in line with economic 
development. Investors’ interest in investing in young commodities 
companies suffered as a result of this development. The IPO of Tin In-
ternational had to be delayed for the meantime. However, Deutsche 
Rohstoff AG sees the current situation as temporary. Commodities 
prices have already recovered again in the first quarter of 2013. 

7) Business development of the Deutsche Rohstoff Group
General development

Revenue amounted to EUR 3.1m in 2012 (prior year: EUR 15.2m). 
Consolidated net income for the year decreased from EUR 10.5m 
in the prior year to EUR 2.3m. The planned fall in revenue and 
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earnings is primarily attributable to the fact that gold production 
was discontinued at the end of 2011 and the production of tung-
sten in Australia/petroleum and natural gas in the US only com-
menced over the course of the year. 

Significant events in fiscal year 2012

1) �The Deutsche Rohstoff Group commenced production 
in two companies in fiscal year 2012

In each of the months April, June and August 2012, Tekton Energy 
connected up three oil reserves that had been drilled using vertical 
wells in February and March 2012. Over the course of the year they 
produced approximately 45,000 barrels of oil equivalent, of which 
61 % was allocable to Tekton in economic terms. In spring 2012, 
management decided to prepare horizontal wells at the Tekton 
project area. In order to improve the understanding of the geolog-
ical situation, 3D seismic surveys were conducted in the summer. 
As of summer, management began to apply for approvals for new 
drilling sites and up to 80 planned horizontal wells. From the end 
of February to the beginning of April 2013, Tekton drilled the first 
two horizontal wells. Production then began from the two reserves 
at the beginning of May 2013. 

In March 2012, Wolfram Camp Mining (WCM) delivered a con-
tainer for the first time with tungsten concentrate to its customer 
Global Tungsten and Powders (GTP). As a result of the ore grades 
falling far short of expectations as well as initial problems with 
increased arsenic, uranium and thorium levels in the concentrate, 
production – especially commercial production – did not reach the 
desired level in 2012. Over the course of the year, the management 
of WCM therefore optimized the extraction method and prepa-
ration process at the ore dressing plant located directly at the 
mine. At the end of the year, the board of directors also resolved 
to invest around EUR 4m in equipment to increase the throughput 
of the dressing plant from 29 mt an hour to 49 mt of crude ore 
and to reduce the U/Th values. The conversion of the plant was 
performed in several stages between December 2012 and March 
2013. Commercial production had not yet commenced in 2012 as 
a result of the necessary start-up phase, meaning it continued to 
be recognized as a “mine under construction”.

2) �Tin International (Tin) and Seltenerden Storkwitz (SES) 
both successfully concluded their first drilling program 
in 2012. 

Tin received the JORC report in September 2012 according to the 
Australian standard, which confirmed the historical resource es-
timate. As regards Seltenerden Storkwitz, the appraiser handed 
over the JORC report in January 2013. It also certifies that the 

historical resource estimate is deemed correct in accordance with 
modern standards. Both companies performed an additional capi-
tal increase. Tin also obtained funds of AUD 3m (approx. EUR 2m) 
in April 2012, with SES acquiring a total of EUR 0.7m in December 
2012 and January 2013. 

3) Sale of Deutsche Rohstoff Australia (DRAU)
In December 2011, DRAG began negotiating the sale of Deutsche 
Rohstoff Australia. In June 2012, a preliminary agreement was 
concluded with JKO Mining. By signing this agreement, JKO paid 
AUD 250k for a non-refundable but creditable premium for the 
right to exclusively examine DRAU. This option was extended 
in August in return for payment of an additional AUD 250k. In 
September, DRAG and JKO Mining concluded a sales agreement 
providing for an acquisition of DRAU by JKO in return for cash 
payment of AUD 16m (approx. EUR 13m). The sale resulted in a 
profit of EUR 4.8m for the DRAG Group. The agreement came into 
effect at the end of October. Upon signing the agreement, the 
purchaser made a payment of AUD 9.5m. The remaining purchase 
price is due for payment in four installments by September 2013. 
These receivables are subject to a rate of interest of 7 % p.a. The 
first two installments at the beginning of January 2013 and end 
of March 2013 were paid by the purchaser on time.

4) Sale of 15 % shareholding in Rhein Petroleum (RP)
In September 2012, DRAG sold a further 15 % of its then 25 % 
shareholding in Rhein Petroleum to Tulip Oil Holding B.V., The 
Hague. The purchase price amounted to EUR 5m, which was 
paid immediately. For the remaining 10 % shareholding of DRAG, 
Tulip Oil assumed 75 % (up to EUR 3m) of DRAG’s share of the 
next investments in Rhein Petroleum. DRAG must contribute a 
maximum of EUR 1m. In such a case, Tulip will receive DRAG’s 
assumed financing share back over the next few years from the 
profit attributable to DRAG or from the sales proceeds upon sale 
of the remaining DRAG shares. After 2021, Tulip will no longer be 
entitled to compensation.

5) Capital increase at Deutsche Rohstoff AG
In February 2012, Deutsche Rohstoff AG performed a capital in-
crease with subscription rights for all shareholders at a price of 
EUR 14.20 per share. The capital increase of 760,306 shares was 
fully placed. The gross issue proceeds which flowed to DRAG 
amounted to EUR 10.8m.

II. Results of operations 

Selected data from the income statement
Fiscal year as of 31 December 
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1	� Gross profit is defined at total operating performance less cost of 

materials. 

2	� EBITDA is defined as earnings for the period before interest, taxes, 

depreciation and amortization on tangible and intangible assets. 

3	 EBIT is defined as earnings for the period before interest and taxes. 

4	� Total operating performance is defined as revenue less increase 

or decrease in finished goods and work in process plus own work 

capitalized plus other operating income plus income from sale/decon-

solidation. In the prior-year group management report, other operating 

income had not been counted towards total operating performance.

In the past fiscal year, the Group’s net income for the year amount-
ed to EUR 2.3m (prior year: EUR 10.50m) with total operating per-
formance of EUR 15.2m (prior year: EUR 23.7m). The net income for 
the year includes income from accounting for deferred tax assets 
on loss carryforwards and on temporary differences in carrying 
amounts of EUR 1.7m. Tax loss carryforwards exist at the Aus-
tralian companies as well as the US companies and Deutsche 
Rohstoff AG. 46 % of revenue of EUR 3.1m resulted from tungsten 
production at the wholly owned subsidiary Wolfram Camp Mining 
and 35.7 % from petroleum and natural gas production of Tekton 
Energy, the majority of which is owned by DRAG. Of total operating 
performance, 14 % or EUR 2.1m related to the partial sale of 15 % 
of DRAG’s shareholding in Rhein Petroleum GmbH in September 
2012 as well as 31.6 % or EUR 4.8m from the sale of Deutsche 
Rohstoff Australia. Additional revenue of EUR 0.6m resulted from 
management services rendered for various companies.

The target laid out in the last forecast report of the Group’s intention 
to generate a further positive group result was thus achieved. The 
fact that the excellent prior-year result was not matched is primarily 
due to the IPO of Tim International in Australia not going ahead as 
planned and its shares not being sold as intended due to the poor 
market situation. Furthermore, the start-up phase at Wolfram Camp 
Mine took longer than originally planned, meaning the mine has not 
yet been able to make a positive contribution to the result.

2012 2011

HGB in Mio. EUR

Revenue 3.1 15.2

Total operating performance4 15.2 23.7

Gross profit1 15.0 16.7

EBITDA2 2.3 8.9

Operating result (EBIT)3 0.70 7.8

Earnings before taxes 0.66 7.9

Net income for the year 2.3 10.5

No revenue has been recorded in 2012 by the other companies Tin 
International, Sachsenzinn and Seltenerden Storkwitz, as these 
are exploration companies. All three companies are currency in-
volved in exploring the prerequisites for preparing a feasibility 
study. Once a feasibility study has been presented, it can be de-
cided whether or not it is worth constructing a mine. 

The German group companies Sachsenzinn GmbH and Selten-
erden Storkwitz AG continue to disclose scheduled start-up 
losses as of 31 December 2012, as do the subsidiaries Tekton 
Energy (Deutsche Rohstoff USA), WCM and TIN International 
in Australia. 

The Group’s financial result of EUR -0.02m (prior year: EUR 0.77m) 
comprises interest income of EUR 0.26m and interest expenses of 
EUR 0.28m. The interest expenses stem from three loans in total 
which DRAG took out in 2011 and 2012. These relate to a bank 
loan taken out in October 2011 to finance the necessary start-up 
investments for Wolfram Camp Mine of USD 6.15m (or EUR 4.6m) 
and two loans from a private creditor totaling EUR 3m. DRAG re-
paid EUR 1m in April 2012. 

Other operating income of EUR 3.4m (prior year: EUR 1.2m) was 
countered at group level by other operating expenses of EUR 6.6m 
(prior year: EUR 5.8m). Other operating income primarily arose 
from the sale of shares in fully consolidated companies and equity 
investments. This relates to the result from the sale of 15.0 % 
of the shares in Rhein Petroleum GmbH of EUR 2.1m as well as 
income from the sale of 3.0 % of the shares in TIN Internation-
al Ltd. of EUR 0.6m and from the sale of 2.8 % of the shares in 
Seltenerden Storkwitz AG of EUR 0.2m. The gains on disposal 
from the proportionate sale of shares in TIN International Ltd. 
and Seltenerden Storkwitz AG were recognized in profit or loss in 
accordance with GAS 4.

The income from sale of EUR 4.8m disclosed separately in the 
income statement relates to the deconsolidation of Deutsche Ro-
hstoff Australia Pty. Ltd. 

Other operating expenses primarily result from administrative ex-
penses for current operations. 

Personnel expenses (EUR 5.7m; prior year: EUR 2.04m) increased 
primarily as a result of Wolfram Camp Mine in Australia starting 
up production. This involved hiring employees for management, 
ore extraction and processing as well as its own laboratory. The 
mine employs around three quarters of the Group’s entire head-
count. 



46

constantly carries out discussions with providers of capital that 
can grant equity or debt capital in order to secure further financing 
at short notice at the level of the holding company and/or the local 
subsidiaries if necessary. Cash flow from financing activities is 
thus very significant.

At EUR 17.9m, cash flow from financing activities increased sharp-
ly in a year-on-year comparison (2011: EUR 6.3m). This was primar-
ily due to the successful capital increase at the beginning of 2012. 

This contrasts with a cash flow from investing activities of EUR 
-13.3m (2011: EUR -8.7m), which chiefly relates to the investments 
in Wolfram Camp Mining and Tekton Energy. The cash flow from 
operating activities amounted to EUR -3.6m (prior year: EUR 6.8m). 
The negative cash flow from operating activities is attributable to 
Georgetown Goldmine discontinuing production and then Wolf-
ram Camp and Tekton only commencing production over the course 
of the year. 

New investments are made primarily in projects that can be ex-
pected to return the funds invested within a period of 12 to 18 
months. For large projects that tie up capital on a long-term basis, 
DRAG is looking for partners to assume the financing and in return 
to take over shares in the corresponding projects. 

The executive board currently takes the view that the Deutsche 
Rohstoff Group will continue to be in a position at all times to meet 
its future obligations and to carry out investments on the basis of 
above-average equity and liquidity.

IV. Net assets

Selected balance sheet data
Fiscal year as of 31 December 

The Group’s total assets of EUR 63.5m comprise around 50 % or 
EUR 31.8m of property, plant and equipment. Of this amount, EUR 

Amortization and depreciation, particularly of intangible fixed as-
sets and property, plant and equipment (EUR 1.63m, prior year: 
EUR 1.09m), increased by EUR 0.54m and relate to intangible as-
sets (EUR 0.16m) and property, plant and equipment (EUR 1.47m). 
Furthermore, write-downs of current assets (EUR 0.45m) were 
recognized in the reporting year.

III. Financial position

Selected data from the cash flow statement
Fiscal year as of 31 December 

As of 31 December 2012, cash and cash equivalents in the Group 
came to EUR 9.98m (prior year: EUR 9.0m). Cash and cash equiv-
alents correspond to credit balances at banks. 

 With total assets in the Group of EUR 63.5m, group equity as of 
31 December 2012 amounts to EUR 49.0m, which corresponds to 
an equity ratio of 77.1 % (prior year: 77.4 %). 

Subscribed capital increased by EUR 0.79m in 2012 to EUR 5.3m 
and capital reserves rose by EUR 11.4m to EUR 29.2m, mainly as 
a result of a cash capital increase at the group parent. Liabilities 
of EUR 11.6m arose due to a bank loan of EUR 4.6m, among other 
things. 

The financial control of the Group is based in the main on the 
cash and cash equivalents available. The Group is continuing to 
experience strong growth, and it is necessary to be able to finance 
this growth at all times. This is why capital increases have so far 
been performed as soon as there was an indication that capital 
would be needed in the medium term. In addition, management 

2012 2011

HGB in EUR m

Cash Flow from operating
activities

-3.2 6.8

Cash Flow from investing
activities

-13.3 - 8.7

Cash Flow from financing
activities

17.5 6.3

Increase / decrease in cash
and cash equivalents

1.0 4.4

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the fiscal year

9.0 4.6

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the fiscal year

10.0 9.0

2012 2011

HGB in EUR m

Fixed assets 37.3 23.9

Current assets 22.1 13.5

Equity 49.0 31.1

Liabilities 11.6 5.6

Provisions 1.7 1.9

Total assets 63.5 40.2
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21.7m (prior year: EUR 9.72m) relates to capitalized exploration 
and evaluation costs/mines under construction, EUR 4.1m (prior 
year: EUR 0m) to petroleum extraction machines and EUR 5.7m to 
plant and machinery (prior year: EUR 7.6m). 

As of 31 December 2012, intangible assets of EUR 2.2m mainly 
comprised the disclosure of the extraction licenses of the wholly 
owned subsidiary Tropical Metals (EUR 1.04m; prior year: EUR 
1.04m) and goodwill (EUR 1.2m; prior year: EUR 0.3m).

The 47 % equity investment in Devonian Metals Inc. in Canada is 
unchanged from the prior year at EUR 1.26m.

After selling 15 % of its 25 % share, the 10 % equity investment in 
Rhein Petroleum is now capitalized at amortized cost of EUR 2.1m. 

Inventories in the form of raw materials, consumables and sup-
plies, work in process and finished goods and merchandise totaled 
EUR 3.8m as of 31 December 2012 (prior year: EUR 2.18m). In-
ventories primarily relate to tungsten and low volumes of gold as 
finished goods as well as tungsten ores that have been extracted 
but not yet processed recognized as work in process. Raw mate-
rials, consumables and supplies primarily include chemicals that 
are required for processing raw materials.

As of 31 December 2012, there were short-term receivables 
with a term of less than one year and other assets of EUR 6.0m 
(prior year: EUR 1.57m) that primarily comprise the remaining 
purchase price from the sale of DRAU. Securities classified as 
current assets amounted to EUR 2.3m (prior year: EUR 0.79m). 
Bank balances amounted to EUR 9.98m and were up EUR 0.98m 
on the prior year.

Deferred tax assets of EUR 4.0m (prior year: EUR 2.6m) were rec-
ognized, primarily on usable tax loss carryforwards. Deferred tax 
assets are counterbalanced by deferred tax liabilities of EUR 1.2m 
(prior year: EUR 1.5m).

The Group’s economic situation continues to be shaped by its 
strong equity and liquidity position. Equity amounted to EUR 49.0m 
as of 31 December 2012 (prior year: EUR 31.1m). The equity ratio 
thus comes to 77.1 % (prior year: 77.4 %).

Liabilities (EUR 11.6m; prior year: EUR 5.61m) mainly comprise a 
bank loan (EUR 4.6m) as well as a loan issued by a private creditor 
(EUR 2m). 

Provisions fell slightly from EUR 1.9m to EUR 1.7m. 

The table below gives the Group an overview of further indicators 
that are of particular importance for assessing its ability to service 
debt. 

1	� Ratio of EBIT (EBIT is defined as revenue plus changes in inventories 

plus other own work capitalized plus other operating income less cost 

of materials less personnel expenses less depreciation and amortiza-

tion less other operating expenses less other taxes plus income from 

equity investments) to interest expenses and similar expenses. 

2	� Ratio of EBITDA (EBITDA is defined as EBIT plus depreciation and 

amortization) to interest expenses and similar expenses. 

3	� Ratio of financial liabilities (financial liabilities are defined as liabili-

ties to banks plus other interest-bearing liabilities) to EBITDA. 

4	� Relationship of net financial liabilities (net financial liabilities are 

defined as total debt less cash and cash equivalents) to EBITDA. 

5	� Relationship of liability capital (liability capital is defined as equity) to 

total assets. 

6	� Relationship of financial liabilities (total debt) to financial liabilities 

plus equity. 

Employees
In addition to the two executive board members, the Company 
employed eight employees at the headquarters in Heidelberg 
and in the Chemnitz branch at the end of the fiscal year. Five 
of those were full-time staff members. In addition, all group 
companies also used external consulting services, especially in 
the areas of legal and tax advice. Including its subsidiaries in 
Germany and abroad, the Deutsche Rohstoff Group employed 
an average of 74 staff in 2012 compared with an average figure 
of 36 in 2011. The majority were employed at Wolfram Camp 
Mine in Australia. The German subsidiaries Sachsenzinn GmbH 
and Seltenerden Storkwitz AG had their own staff for the first 
time in 2012. In addition to the executive board, Seltenerden 
Storkwitz has two geologists that were employed part-time. 
Sachsenzinn also employs two geologists, one part-time and 
the other full-time. Again in 2012, DRAG performed administra-
tive and geological services for the two companies as part of a 
service agreement. 

2012 2011

HGB in EUR m

EBIT Interest Coverage Ratio1 2.4 29.5

EBITDA Interest Coverage Ratio2 8.2 33.7

Total DEBT / EBITDA3 2.87 0.5

Total net Debt / EBITDA4 -1.45 -0.51

Risk Bearing Capital5 0.77 0.77

Total Debt / Capital6 0.12 0.13
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Research and development
The Deutsche Rohstoff Group carries out scarcely any research 
and development activities of its own. Instead it makes use of 
service providers that carry out the work using state-of-the-art 
technology. One exception is Seltenerden Storkwitz AG, which 
has entered into a range of technology partnerships. The aim is to 
develop process technologies for the preparation and separation 
of rare earths.

V. Subsequent events

After the balance sheet date, the following significant events ma-
terially influenced the further development of business up until the 
beginning of May 2013:

At the end of February 2013, the purchase agreement for tung-
sten concentrates with Global Tungsten & Powders (GTP) was 
revised and renewed. In connection with this, Bank Austria 
increased the existing loan to EUR 8.24m. The loan primarily 
serves to finance the investments in Wolfram Camp’s dressing 
plant. The term for the total loan amounts to just under four 
years until the end of 2016. These investments have since been 
made. The plant runs at its targeted throughput of 49 mt of 
crude ore an hour.

Tekton Energy completed two horizontal wells by the end of April, 
which have been producing petroleum and natural gas since the 
beginning of May. These wells are the basis for further financing 
projects necessary to able to be able to perform the extensive 
drilling program as planned. In connection with this, Deutsche 
Rohstoff AG plans to issue a bond in June 2013 to secure the 
financing of the Tekton drilling program.

Deutsche Rohstoff AG performed the following financing for sub-
sidiaries from January to the end of April 2013:

Deutsche Rohstoff USA/Tekton Energy: USD 7.75m (EUR 5.96m) 
as part of several capital increases and USD 2m (EUR 1.54m) in 
the form of a loan.

Wolfram Camp Mining: AUD 6.2m (EUR 4.9m) as a loan.

Rhein Petroleum: EUR 122,500 as a contribution to the capital 
reserves.

Seltenerden Storkwitz AG concluded a capital increase of EUR 
0.7m in January. 

VI. Opportunities and risk report

Opportunities
I. Oil & Gas division
In April 2012, Tekton Energy began production of oil and gas from 
the first three vertical wells drilled in February 2012. In June and 
August 2012, a further six reserves were connected. Since then, 
production at all wells has been largely problem free. In fiscal year 
2012, Tekton extracted around 45,000 barrels of oil equivalent. 
Around 61 % of this total was allocable to Tekton in economic 
terms, with the rest going to the other neighboring owners. 

In summer 2012, Tekton conducted a 3D seismic survey in prepa-
ration for the horizontal wells. At the same time, Tekton began 
applying for approval for up to 80 horizontal wells. In February 
2013, Tekton drilled the first two horizontal wells. They have 
been in production since the beginning of May 2013. As a result 
of the extensive results published by the two large companies 
operating in the same field, DRAG assumes that the equity 
investment in Tekton has considerable potential added value. 
For this reason, Tekton is expected to form the focus of DRAG’s 
activities for the next few years. Around half of the funds for 
investments in further horizontal wells are expected to come 
from cash inflows from the wells that are already in production 
and the rest from debt financing and own funds which will largely 
be procured by Deutsche Rohstoff AG. In connection with this, 
Deutsche Rohstoff AG plans to issue a bond in June 2013 to 
secure Tekton’s financing requirements.

The extensive 3D seismic explorations by Rhein Petroleum GmbH 
were completed in May 2012. The information acquired was eval-
uated until the end of 2012, with some information still under eval-
uation. The management of Rhein Petroleum is planning several 
wells for 2013. If the positive assessment of the seismic findings 
made to date is actually confirmed, DRAG expects a substantial 
rise in the value of this equity investment, too.

II. Metals division
The tungsten mine in Australia is to lead to a lasting and signif-
icant contribution to revenue and profit from the second half of 
2013. By means of exploration on the extensive licensed sites, 
the reserves and thus the life cycle of the mine is to be further 
extended. Preparation is already underway for the correspond-
ing work. The agreement with GTP marks an agreement with 
a major customer with whom long-term cooperation has been 
agreed. DRAG sees strong additional growth opportunities from 
this relationship.
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Sachsenzinn GmbH and the parent company Tin International 
plan to develop their Gottesberg and Geyer licensed sites further 
towards a feasibility study. In January 2013, SZ was also award-
ed the contract for an additional licensed site in the Erzgebirge 
mountains called Sadisdorf. There is a historical resource esti-
mate for this site. If DRAG succeeds in financing the extensive 
work necessary for a feasibility study, it sees good opportunities 
for considerably increasing the value of its shares. If the existing 
resource estimate for Sadisdorf can be converted into a JORC-con-
form resource estimate comparable to Gottesberg and Geyer, this 
would also increase the value of the equity investment.

Seltenerden Storkwitz AG plans to perform an IPO in the current 
year. The resulting cash inflow will enable the company to further 
explore its main project in Storkwitz. It is planned to drill to a depth 
of around 1,200 meters, which is expected to increase its resourc-
es considerably. The company is also working with several part-
ners to develop efficient and environmentally friendly technology 
for processing and separating the ores. If there defined milestones 
are achieved, DRAG sees good marketing opportunities for this 
technology regardless of whether or not it uses it itself.

In the past year, Devonian Metals concluded an additional explo-
ration program with pleasing results. DRAG is of the opinion that 
the project has now reached a stage of development allowing it 
be sold for an attractive sum. The joint venture partner Glencore 
shares this opinion. For DRAG, this represents an opportunity to 
make a considerable profit if the project is sold.

Significant risks related to future development

Deutsche Rohstoff AG has identified the following risks as the 
main business risks posed to the further development of the Group:

1. �The success of the Deutsche Rohstoff Group hinges 
solely on the development of the subsidiaries and equi-
ty investments with operations in Germany and abroad.

The operations of Deutsche Rohstoff AG itself are limited. All ma-
jor activities take place at the subsidiaries, each of which has its 
own management. The success of the entire Group depends on 
the extent to which the respective local management reaches the 
targets set. If there are major deviances from targets, the Group‘s 
result could fall well short of expectations.

The executive board of the holding company in Heidelberg uses 
a range of tools to detect risks at an early stage and counteract 
such risks:

· �The annual financial planning is prepared for the holding company 
as well as for the subsidiaries on a monthly basis and is subject 
to constant variance analysis. Variances of more than 10 % will 
be taken as an opportunity to examine the corresponding costs 
directly or to adjust the planning if necessary.

· �The credit and cash management of the subsidiaries is ensured 
at all times via the parent company. There is close cooperation 
with those responsible for finances based on monthly capital and 
liquidity planning. 

· �Once a month the subsidiaries prepare a report that provides de-
tailed information on production, exploration, personnel, safety 
and the environment.

· �Two to three times a month, extensive telephone conferences 
are held with the management of the subsidiaries. The execu-
tive board is given information on all current developments and 
discusses upcoming measures at these telephone conferences.

In addition, personal visits on site or by the management of sub-
sidiaries in Heidelberg provide an opportunity to discuss the re-
spective situation comprehensively and to plan the next months/
years from an operational perspective. These personal visits take 
place between two and four times a year.

2. General risks of resource extraction
The possibilities of successful extraction of resources are pri-
marily also dependent on the political will of local governments 
to have available resources mined by the local or foreign mining 
industry. Restrictive requirements for the mining industry can 
make it much more difficult and/or not economically feasible 
to extract resources. In addition, natural dangers such as earth-
quakes, cyclones or protracted storms can disrupt the operation 
of a mine, at least temporarily. There is a further risk that re-
source content estimated in the course of trial drills may not last 
or may be substantially less than estimated and an exploration 
project may thus fail or can be considerably more expensive or 
be delayed. 

The success of Tekton Energy, one that is extremely important 
for the Group, also depends on its ability to use modern technol-
ogies such as horizontal wells and hydraulic fracturing. The use 
of hydraulic fracturing in particular is one area that is a source 
of controversial discussion in Germany and, to some extent, in 
the US. It cannot be ruled out completely that the usage of this 
technology will be limited or made more expensive. 
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Generally speaking, the exploration of commodity deposits carries 
the risk of deposits proving not to be economic as part of their 
development or the necessary financing not being provided for 
further development. In such a case, it may be necessary to de-
preciate the majority of assets in the Oil & Gas, Metals and Rare 
Earths divisions partially or in full. 

Deutsche Rohstoff AG has developed various strategies in order 
to mitigate or eliminate these risks:

· �Investments only in countries with a stable political and legal 
environment

· �Focus on projects for which intensive exploration was already 
carried out in the past and for which extensive geological reports 
are available

· �Conclusion of agreements with partners that assume part or all 
of the project development risk

· �Diversification of production also within subsidiaries. Tekton has 
since acquired a large lease position outside the town of Wind-
sor. It is unlikely that exploration or production on these sites will 
be limited due to a lack of acceptance among the population, as 
they are not located in the vicinity of heavily populated areas.

3. Risks related to the development of resource prices
Global resource prices are subject to some extremely high vola-
tility, even during the year. The mining industry is subject to the 
risk that investment decisions will be taken on the basis of market 
price assumptions that were too high and that may be obsolete 
just a few months later and could result in a project originally 
classified as profitable turning into a loss-making project.

Deutsche Rohstoff AG is endeavoring to prevent the price risks 
using a range of measures:

· �Portfolio approach: In contrast to many other smaller mining 
companies, DRAG has a portfolio of projects and subsidiaries 
for various resources. To a certain extent this provides security 
against price risks, as the price development of different resourc-
es is not always fully correlated and in some cases prices even 
develop counter to each other. 

· �Fast return of the funds used: DRAG regularly reviews whether it 
can sell projects, either in full or in part, and thereby reduce its 
amount of capital tied up. If the invested funds flow back to the 
Company, the risk of falling prices is less relevant.

4. �Forward production sales (hedging). In the US in 
particular, Tekton uses the opportunity to forward sell 
future production and thereby secure a set minimum 
price. Competitive risks

The business environment in resource extraction is subject to 
considerably stiffer competition at an international level than in 
Germany. It is characterized by intense exploration and extraction 
activities and rapid technical changes. The success of the Group 
depends to a large degree on the extent to which it manages 
to extract current and future reserves and resources at favorable 
prices, and to process and market them successfully. At present 
and in future, the Group sees itself exposed to intense competi-
tion, especially internationally, with a large number of competitors 
ranging from small explorer firms to large international mining 
corporations. 

The Group works with a strong network of partners that make 
their finances, technical know-how and global contacts available 
to the Company. This network will continue to make a major con-
tribution to the Company’s ability to hold its ground in the face of 
international competition.

5. Risks in relation to additional funding requirements
The ability to finance project development is one of the main suc-
cess factors in the mining industry and also in the oil and gas in-
dustry. Deutsche Rohstoff AG currently has above-average equity 
reserves and sufficient cash reserves. Nevertheless DRAG must 
borrow additional funding, in particular to be able to perform the 
horizontal drilling program in the US. Funding requirements can 
also be higher than planned on account of delays or cost increases 
for the projects. Whether or not DRAG will remain in a position to 
procure additional funding going forward hinges on the success 
of the current and future project activities, the conditions on the 
capital market and on other factors. 

If DRAG does not succeed in borrowing funds at favorable conditions 
or indeed at any conditions, DRAG could possibly be forced to reduce 
the operating expenses by delaying, limiting or discontinuing project 
development. A resurgence of the global financial crisis would once 
again result in lasting difficulties for companies, especially smaller 
ones, wishing to procure equity and borrowed capital.

In general, Deutsche Rohstoff AG endeavors to counter the financ-
ing risk with a very conservative financing policy. The reach of the 
cash available constitutes a major performance indicator. Ongoing 
discussions are held with potential providers of equity and bor-
rowed capital in an attempt to create further funding opportunities 
that can also be used independently of the capital market.
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6. Insolvency risks
There is a risk that one or several of DRAG’s subsidiaries will 
become insolvent. If this risk eventuates, it could lead to consid-
erable valuation allowances being recognized on shares in and 
receivables from subsidiaries and could reduce DRAG’s equity ac-
cordingly. Furthermore, if payments expected from subsidiaries, 
i.e., loan repayments, are not received, this could lead to a re-
stricted ability to pay and possibly also to the insolvency of DRAG. 
The executive board of DRAG uses the instruments listed under 
point 1 to detect risks at an early stage and counteract such risks.

7. �Risks relating to the usability of tax loss carryforwards
DRAG and the group companies have a notable amount of tax loss 
carryforwards. DRAG assumes that based on current tax legisla-
tion in Germany and other countries these loss carryforwards can 
be carried forward and used for offsetting against future profits 
in accordance with the tax regulations (e.g., minimum taxation) 
without any time restrictions. If changes in the law at short notice, 
a change in the capital or ownership structures or other events 
mean that it is not possible to use the tax loss carryforwards in 
full or in part, e.g., because it is not possible to yield profits with 
commodities projects, income tax payments would then be in-
curred on the profits expected to be recorded in the future if the 
respective subsidiaries develop successfully. These tax payments 
would burden liquidity and capitalized deferred taxes would have 
to be written down if necessary.

The executive board therefore regularly reviews the recoverability 
of deferred tax assets recognized on loss carryforwards.

8. Risks relating to personnel
The executives and the scientific and technical experts in key po-
sitions are decisive for the success of all group companies. Many 
of these employees have extensive experience in the resources 
industry and in the Group and would be difficult to replace. In 
addition, competition for experienced specialists is intense in the 
industry, and the Deutsche Rohstoff Group may not succeed in 
hiring highly trained staff or retaining them for the long term. The 
development of DRAG is currently still heavily dependent on the 
performance of the two founding executive board members. Any 
loss of top management could pose a risk to the successful devel-
opment of the Company thus far.

Consequently, Deutsche Rohstoff AG has been broadening its 
personnel base since 2011, both for the commercial control and 
management of the Group as a whole in the headquarters and by 
means of further staff with training in technical subjects and the 
natural sciences.

9. Currency risks
Large portions of DRAG’s assets are held in other currency zones, 
in particular in US dollars, Australian dollars and Canadian dollars. 
Depending on the amount of monthly revenue of the subsidiaries 
abroad and on new investment plans outside of the euro zone, 
DRAG also holds cash in foreign currencies. This mostly involves 
Australian dollars and US dollars. There are also currency risks 
from translating the separate financial statements of the foreign 
subsidiaries from local currency to euro, as the functional cur-
rency for those subsidiaries is the local currency. Currency risks 
also stem from short-term loans from the holding company to the 
subsidiaries in their local currencies.

These currency risks are recorded and monitored systematically. 
In certain circumstances, currency hedges can also be concluded 
for foreign currency items if the amount and timing of payment 
obligations is relatively certain.

10. Country-related risks
DRAG’s projects and subsidiaries are all located in countries with 
a stable political and legal environment. Nevertheless the frame-
work conditions for mining companies could deteriorate unexpect-
edly, for example in the event of a change of government. 

As far as management is aware, none of the group companies are 
currently subject to any risks that could jeopardize the continued 
existence of the Group until the end of 2012 or thereafter. In fact, 
management assumes that the holding company will continue its 
successful course for growth to date and will be able to meet its tar-
get of setting up profitable resource production by the end of 2013.

VII. Forecast and outlook

Future gearing of the Group
As of the date of the report, the Deutsche Rohstoff Group compris-
es the parent company in Heidelberg, a branch in Chemnitz, a total 
of eight majority interests in Australia, the US and Germany and 
two minority interests in Germany and Canada. The Group focus-
es on the two strategic divisions “Oil & Gas” and “Metals”. The 
executive board sees considerable revenue and profit potential in 
both divisions. The individual companies in these two divisions 
have the potential to contribute to a considerably higher market 
value of the Group as a whole in the medium term. Accordingly, 
the investment funds and operations have been focused on these 
two divisions since the beginning of 2012. The executive board 
sees the largest opportunities for high gains in value in the US 
subsidiary Tekton Energy, which has the ability to create a large 
number of extraordinarily profitable horizontal wells.
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Future economic environment
According to DRAG, global demand for goods and energy – and 
thus the demand for all types of resources – will continue to in-
crease further in the medium to long-term future. This is due pri-
marily to the rise in living standards in the emerging economies. 
In our view, this process is irreversible. Nevertheless the devel-
opment of past years shows that there can always be phases of 
great uncertainty during which even the prices of resources can 
decline sharply. If such a phase were to be prolonged, it could 
impact negatively on the net assets and results of operations of 
the Deutsche Rohstoff Group.

DRAG operates in countries with good infrastructure and where le-
gal certainty prevails. Particularly in Australia, the US and Canada, 
the environment is mining-friendly. The executive board continues 
to view these framework conditions as beneficial for long-term 
prospering business development.

Expected net assets and financial position
The executive board expects a positive group result once again in 
2013. This will be largely shaped by Tekton Energy. If the Group 
succeeds in securing the financing for the up to 50 horizontal 
wells planned for the next year, the executive board expects to 
generate earnings in 2013 that at least match those from 2011 
and also foresees a significant growth in earnings in 2014. If 
financing is not successful or is delayed significantly, this would 
presumably result in earnings and the financial position worsen-
ing significantly. In connection with this, Deutsche Rohstoff AG 
plans to issue a bond in June 2013 to secure Tekton’s financing 
requirements.

The earnings forecast also anticipates the Wolfram Camp Mine 
becoming economically viable as of mid-2013. In this regard, man-
agement sees all the prerequisites as being in place on account of 
the positive development so far in 2013.

The earnings forecast both for 2013 and for 2014 are subject to 
the proviso that the macroeconomic development and the prices 
of resources remain stable. If prices (especially for tungsten and 
petroleum) collapse, for example due to the uncertainty in con-
nection with the euro crisis or because of a considerable drop in 
demand for resources in China, it is possible that the forecast will 
not prove accurate.

Overall outlook regarding anticipated development
Since its foundation, the Deutsche Rohstoff Group has succeeded 
in establishing its position on the market. It has a valuable project 
portfolio, a strong network of specialists from the industry and 

in Germany it also has a high profile. Based on this position, the 
Group has the following objectives for 2013/2014:

· �Securing financing as quickly as possible and performing Tekton 
Energy’s horizontal drilling program

· �Acquiring additional areas at the Wattenberg site or other pro-
spective sites in the US

· �Profitable production of tungsten concentrates in Australia as 
well as additional extension of the life cycle of the mine by means 
of exploration

· �Securing the financing of the subsidiaries TIN International and 
SES AG.

Management intends to propose a dividend distribution for the 
first time to the annual general meeting for fiscal year 2012. If 
business develops accordingly, rising dividends are expected to 
be paid for 2013 and subsequent years where possible.

Heidelberg, 5 June 2013

The Executive Board
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54 Consolidated balance sheet

Assets 31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2012

EUR EUR

A. Fixed assets

I. Intangible assets

1. Purchased franchises, industrial rights and similar rights and assets, and licenses in such 
rights and assets 1,070,062 1,161,152

2. Goodwill 1,166,761 313,300

2,236,823 1,474,452

II. Property, plant and equipment

1. Land, land rights and buildings, including buildings on third-party land 68,725 2,031

2. Petroleum extraction machines 4,088,375 0

3. Mines under construction 17,208,251 0

4. Exploration and evaluation 4,499,895 9,716,924

5. Plant and machinery 5,662,273 7,597,013

6. Other equipment, furniture and fixtures 230,353 217,804

31,757,873 17,533,772

III. Financial assets

Equity investments 3,251,470 4,856,580

3,251,470 4,856,580

B. Current assets

I. Inventories

1. Raw materials, consumables and supplies 1,396,629 437,713

2. Work in process 2,063,530 1,723,278

3. Finished goods and merchandise 370,222 23,183

3,830,381 2,184,174

II. Receivables and other assets

1. Trade receivables 624,438 530,235

2. Receivables from other investees and investors 156,778 156,778

3. Other assets 5,220,668 880,505

6,001,884 1,567,518

III. Securities classified as current assets 2,275,435 788,713

IV. Bank balances 9,983,219 9,000,881

C. Prepaid expenses 143,598 123,263

D. Deferred tax assets 3,970,122 2,639,161

Total assets 63,450,804 40,168,514

Consolidated balance sheet
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Equity and liabilities 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

EUR EUR

A. Equity

I. Subscribed capital 5,322,147 4,534,120

Conditional capital: EUR 2,000,000 (prior year: EUR 2,019,516)

II. Capital reserves 29,219,454 17,785,425

III. Equity difference from currency translation -105,452 271,040

IV. Consolidated net retained profit 9,656,646 6,511,434

V. Minority interests 4,845,694 1,994,888

48,938,488 31,096,906

B. Provisions

Other provisions 1,674,717 1,911,277

1,674,717 1,911,277

C. Liabilities

1. Liabilities to banks 4,634,385 4,499,006

2. Trade payables 2,852,718 710,950

3. Other liabilities 4,160,283 401,834

11,647,386 5,611,791

D. Deferred tax liabilities 1,190,213 1,548,540

Total equity and liabilities 63,450,804 40,168,514
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1 Jan – 31 Dec 2012 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2011

EUR EUR

1. Revenue 3,095,441 15,203,048

2. Increase or decrease in finished goods and work in process 704,911 -1,115,624

3. Other own work capitalized 3,160,550 232,694

4. Other operating income 3,354,762 1,209,643

5. Income from sale/deconsolidation 4,842,441 8,139,934

6. Cost of materials 121,976 6,974,428

a) �Cost of raw materials, consumables and supplies and of purchased merchandise 0 0

b) Cost of purchased services 121,976 6,974,428

7. Personnel expenses 5,715,684 2,037,998

a) Wages and salaries 5,541,662 1,909,361

b) �) Social security, pension and other benefit costs 174,021 128,637

– thereof for old-age pensions: EUR 7,984 (prior year: EUR 422)

8. Amortization, depreciation and write-downs 1,629,052 1,092,993

a) �of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 1,629,052 1,092,993

9. Other operating expenses 7,011,733 5,794,537

10. Income from other securities and loans classified as fixed 
financial assets

0 9,273

11. Other interest and similar income 259,979 340,771

12. Interest and similar expenses 280,839 263,391

13. Result from ordinary activities 658,801 7,856,393

14. Income taxes -1,711,280 -2,623,957

– �thereof income from changes in recognized deferred taxes: EUR -1,711,280  
(prior year: EUR 2,623,957)

15. Other taxes 90,533 0

16. Consolidated net income for the year 2,279,547 10,480,350

17. Loss attributable to minority interests 865,665 336,836

18. Profit (+) / loss (-) carried forward 6,511,433 -4,305,753

19. Consolidated net retained profit 9,656,646 6,511,434

Consolidated income statement 
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2012 2011

  EUR EUR

Net income/loss for the period (including minority interests) 2,279,547 10,480,350

– / + Interest received/paid 20,860 -77,381

Net income/loss before interest and income tax 2,300,408 10,402,970

+ / – Write-downs/write-ups of fixed assets 1,629,052 1,092,992

+ / – Increase/decrease in long-term provisions 107,442 1,129,005

+ / – Other non-cash expenses/income -1,078,733 1,677,956

+ / – Increase /decrease in short-term provisions -347,431 100,189

– / + Gains/losses from the disposal of Deutsche Rohstoff 
Australia Pty. Ltd. (prior year: Rhein Petroleum GmbH)

-4,842,441 -8,139,934

– / + Gains/losses from the partial disposal of companies that remain fully consolidated -836,487 0

– / + Gains/losses from the disposal of financial assets -2,125,177 0

+ / – Interest income/expenses received/paid -20,860 77,381

– / + Increase/decrease in inventories -1,646,206 -721,076

– / +  Increase/decrease in trade receivables -94,203 0

– / + Increase/decrease in other assets and assets that cannot be  
allocated to investing or financing activities

-647,082 -928,066

+ / – Increase/decrease in trade payables 2,141,768 515,904

+ / – Increase/decrease in other liabilities and liabilities that cannot be
allocated to investing or financing activities

2,297,623 1,626,681

Cash flow from operating activities -3,162,329 6,834,001

+ Cash received from disposals of property, plant and equipment 29,428 249,122

– Cash paid for investments in property, plant and equipment -23,241,293 -11,310,015

– Cash paid for investments in intangible assets -1,069,035 -1,107,242

+ Cash received from disposals of fixed financial assets 5,000,000 0

– Cash paid for investments in fixed financial assets -1,269,713 -2,390,504

+ Cash received from the sale of consolidated companies and other business entities 8,709,619 9,713,244

– Cash paid for the purchase of consolidated companies and other business entities 0 -3,405,146

+ Cash received in connection with short-term financial management of cash investments 788,713 0

– Cash paid in connection with short-term financial management of cash investments -2,275,435 -490,761

Cash flow from investing activities -13,327,717 -8,741,301

Cash received from equity contributions (capital increases, sale of treasury shares, etc.) 15,483,359 5,792,008

+ Cash received from the issue of bonds and from loans 3,000,000 4,498,974

– Cash repayments of bonds and loans -1,010,975 -4,000,966

Cash flow from financing activities 17,472,384 6,290,017

Changes in cash and cash equivalents 982,338 4,382,716

+ Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 9,000,881 4,618,165

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 9,983,219 9,000,881

Consolidated cash flow statement
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

in EUR Subscribed capital Capital reserves Equity difference from 
currency translation

Profit/loss  
carryforward

Net income/loss 
 for the year

Equity of the  
DRAG Group

Minority interests Accumulated other 
comprehensive income 

of minority interests

Consolidated equity

          

As of 1 January 2011 4,353,620 12,434,806 -65,326 -3,376,265 -929,488 12,417,347 161,875 0 12,579,222

 

Capital increase 180,500 1,903,591    2,084,091   2,084,091

Foreign currency  
translation

  336,366   336,366  -13,255 323,111

Changes in the basis  
of consolidation

 3,447,028    3,447,028 2,183,104  5,630,132

Reclassifications    -929,488 929,488    0

Net income/net loss  
for the year

    10,817,186 10,817,186 -336,836  10,480,350

          

As of 31 December 2011 4,534,120 17,785,425 271,040 -4,305,753 10,817,186 29,102,018 2,008,143 -13,255 31,096,906

          

As of 1 January 2012 4,534,120 17,785,425 271,040 -4,305,753 10,817,186 29,102,018 2,008,143 -13,255 31,096,906

 

Capital increase 788,027 10,401,138    11,189,165 4,272,155  15,461,320

Uncompleted capital  
increase at subsidiaries

    0 423,202  423,202

Foreign currency  
translation

  -376,492   -376,492  54,005 -322,487

Reclassifications  1,032,891  10,817,186 -10,817,186 1,032,891 -1,032,891  0

Net income/net loss  
for the year

    3,145,212 3,145,212 -865,665  2,279,547

 

As of 31 December 2012 5,322,147 29,219,454 -105,452 6,511,434 3,145,212 44,092,794 4,804,944 40,750 48,938,488
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in EUR Subscribed capital Capital reserves Equity difference from 
currency translation

Profit/loss  
carryforward

Net income/loss 
 for the year

Equity of the  
DRAG Group

Minority interests Accumulated other 
comprehensive income 

of minority interests

Consolidated equity

          

As of 1 January 2011 4,353,620 12,434,806 -65,326 -3,376,265 -929,488 12,417,347 161,875 0 12,579,222

 

Capital increase 180,500 1,903,591    2,084,091   2,084,091

Foreign currency  
translation

  336,366   336,366  -13,255 323,111

Changes in the basis  
of consolidation

 3,447,028    3,447,028 2,183,104  5,630,132

Reclassifications    -929,488 929,488    0

Net income/net loss  
for the year

    10,817,186 10,817,186 -336,836  10,480,350

          

As of 31 December 2011 4,534,120 17,785,425 271,040 -4,305,753 10,817,186 29,102,018 2,008,143 -13,255 31,096,906

          

As of 1 January 2012 4,534,120 17,785,425 271,040 -4,305,753 10,817,186 29,102,018 2,008,143 -13,255 31,096,906

 

Capital increase 788,027 10,401,138    11,189,165 4,272,155  15,461,320

Uncompleted capital  
increase at subsidiaries

    0 423,202  423,202

Foreign currency  
translation

  -376,492   -376,492  54,005 -322,487

Reclassifications  1,032,891  10,817,186 -10,817,186 1,032,891 -1,032,891  0

Net income/net loss  
for the year

    3,145,212 3,145,212 -865,665  2,279,547

 

As of 31 December 2012 5,322,147 29,219,454 -105,452 6,511,434 3,145,212 44,092,794 4,804,944 40,750 48,938,488
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Acquisition and production cost

in EUR
 

1 Jan 2012 Additions Disposals Changes in the basis of  
consolidation

Reclassifications Foreign currency  
translation

31 Dec 2012

I. Intangible assets

 1. �Purchased franchises, industrial rights and 
similar rights and assets, and licenses in such 
rights and assets

1,769,332 69,080 0 -174,429 0 550 1,664,533

2. Goodwill 354,490 999,955 0 0 0 0 1,354,445

2,123,823 1,069,035 0 -174,429 0 550 3,018,978

II. Property, plant and equipment

1. ��Land, land rights and buildings,  
including buildings on third-party land

2,443 79,528 0 -2,465 0 -2,018 77,488

2. �Petroleum extraction machines 0 0 0 0 4,562,756 -91,497 4,471,259

3. �Mines under construction 0 12,736,035 0 0 4,803,908 -331,692 17,208,251

4. �Exploration and evaluation 10,257,670 7,554,829 -7,241 -3,909,127 -9,366,664 -29,572 4,499,895

5. Plant and machinery 8,060,105 2,715,677 0 -4,265,989 0 -31,487 6,478,305

6. �Other equipment, furniture and fixtures 261,851 155,223 -22,187 -76,701 0 -3,518 314,667

18,582,068 23,241,293 -29,428 -8,254,283 0 -489,784 33,049,865

III. Financial assets

  Equity investments 4,856,580 1,269,713 -2,874,823 0 0 0 3,251,470

4,856,580 1,269,713 -2,874,823 0 0 0 3,251,470

   25,562,471 25,580,041 -2,904,251 -8,428,712 0 -489,235 39,320,313

Consolidated statement of changes in fixed assets

Consolidated statement of changes in fixed assets
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Acquisition and production cost

in EUR
 

1 Jan 2012 Additions Disposals Changes in the basis of  
consolidation

Reclassifications Foreign currency  
translation

31 Dec 2012

I. Intangible assets

 1. �Purchased franchises, industrial rights and 
similar rights and assets, and licenses in such 
rights and assets

1,769,332 69,080 0 -174,429 0 550 1,664,533

2. Goodwill 354,490 999,955 0 0 0 0 1,354,445

2,123,823 1,069,035 0 -174,429 0 550 3,018,978

II. Property, plant and equipment

1. ��Land, land rights and buildings,  
including buildings on third-party land

2,443 79,528 0 -2,465 0 -2,018 77,488

2. �Petroleum extraction machines 0 0 0 0 4,562,756 -91,497 4,471,259

3. �Mines under construction 0 12,736,035 0 0 4,803,908 -331,692 17,208,251

4. �Exploration and evaluation 10,257,670 7,554,829 -7,241 -3,909,127 -9,366,664 -29,572 4,499,895

5. Plant and machinery 8,060,105 2,715,677 0 -4,265,989 0 -31,487 6,478,305

6. �Other equipment, furniture and fixtures 261,851 155,223 -22,187 -76,701 0 -3,518 314,667

18,582,068 23,241,293 -29,428 -8,254,283 0 -489,784 33,049,865

III. Financial assets

  Equity investments 4,856,580 1,269,713 -2,874,823 0 0 0 3,251,470

4,856,580 1,269,713 -2,874,823 0 0 0 3,251,470

   25,562,471 25,580,041 -2,904,251 -8,428,712 0 -489,235 39,320,313
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Accumulated amortization, depreciation and write-downs Net book values

in EUR 1 Jan 2012 Additions Disposals Write-ups Changes in the 
basis of consoli-

dation

Reclassifications Foreign currency 
translation

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

I. Intangible assets

 1. �Purchased franchises, industrial rights and 
similar rights and assets, and licenses in 
such rights and assets

608,181 13,377 0 0 -27,071 0 -16 594,471 1,070,062 1,161,152

2. �Goodwill 41,190 146,494 0 0 0 0 0 187,684 1,166,761 313,300

649,371 159,871 0 0 -27,071 0 -16 782,155 2,236,823 1,474,452

II. Property, plant and equipment

1. �Land, land rights and buildings, including 
buildings on third-party land

412 9,612 0 0 -1,024 0 -237 8,763 68,725 2,031

2. �Petroleum extraction machines 0 393,704 0 0 0 0 -10,820 382,884 4,088,375 0

3. �Mines under construction 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17,208,251 0

4. �Exploration and evaluation 540,746 197,535 0 0 -739,942 0 1,662 0 4,499,895 9,716,924

5. Plant and machinery 463,092 759,992 0 0 -402,581 0 -4,471 816,032 5,662,273 7,597,013

6. �Other equipment, furniture and fixtures 44,047 108,339 0 0 -60,823 0 -7,248 84,314 230,353 217,804

1,048,296 1,469,181 0 0 -1,204,370 0 -21,115 1,291,993 31,757,873 17,533,772

III. Financial assets

 Equity investments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,251,470 4,856,580

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,251,470 4,856,580

   1,697,667 1,629,052 0 0 -1,231,441 0 -21,131 2,074,148 37,246,165 23,864,803

Consolidated statement of changes in fixed assets
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Accumulated amortization, depreciation and write-downs Net book values

in EUR 1 Jan 2012 Additions Disposals Write-ups Changes in the 
basis of consoli-

dation

Reclassifications Foreign currency 
translation

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

I. Intangible assets

 1. �Purchased franchises, industrial rights and 
similar rights and assets, and licenses in 
such rights and assets

608,181 13,377 0 0 -27,071 0 -16 594,471 1,070,062 1,161,152

2. �Goodwill 41,190 146,494 0 0 0 0 0 187,684 1,166,761 313,300

649,371 159,871 0 0 -27,071 0 -16 782,155 2,236,823 1,474,452

II. Property, plant and equipment

1. �Land, land rights and buildings, including 
buildings on third-party land

412 9,612 0 0 -1,024 0 -237 8,763 68,725 2,031

2. �Petroleum extraction machines 0 393,704 0 0 0 0 -10,820 382,884 4,088,375 0

3. �Mines under construction 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17,208,251 0

4. �Exploration and evaluation 540,746 197,535 0 0 -739,942 0 1,662 0 4,499,895 9,716,924

5. Plant and machinery 463,092 759,992 0 0 -402,581 0 -4,471 816,032 5,662,273 7,597,013

6. �Other equipment, furniture and fixtures 44,047 108,339 0 0 -60,823 0 -7,248 84,314 230,353 217,804

1,048,296 1,469,181 0 0 -1,204,370 0 -21,115 1,291,993 31,757,873 17,533,772

III. Financial assets

 Equity investments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,251,470 4,856,580

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,251,470 4,856,580

   1,697,667 1,629,052 0 0 -1,231,441 0 -21,131 2,074,148 37,246,165 23,864,803



64 Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. General

The consolidated financial statements of Deutsche Rohstoff AG 
have been prepared in accordance with the accounting provisions 
of Secs. 290 et seq. HGB [“Handelsgesetzbuch”: German Com-
mercial Code].

The consolidated income statement is classified using the nature 
of expense method.

To improve clarity, we summarize individual consolidated bal-
ance sheet and income statement items and present and com-
ment on them separately in these notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. For the same reason, we also indicate in 
the notes whether individual items are related to other items 
and “thereof” items. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro (EUR). 
Unless otherwise indicated, all figures are rounded up or down to 
the nearest euro in accordance with commercial rounding practic-
es. Please note that differences can result from the use of rounded 
amounts and percentages.

2. Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include Deutsche Rohstoff 
AG as well as two German and six foreign subsidiaries. In the prior 
year, the consolidated financial statements included two German 
and seven foreign subsidiaries. Please also refer to 5.2 Information 
on shareholdings.

Deutsche Rohstoff Australia Pty. Ltd. was deconsolidated as a 
result of the sale of 100 % of shares held. This generated income 
of EUR 4.8m, which was disclosed separately under income from 
sale/deconsolidation.

3. Consolidation principles

Companies which were consolidated for the first time due to an 
acquisition were accounted for using the purchase method as of 
the date on which the companies became a subsidiary. 

The carrying amount of the shares belonging to the parent com-
pany is offset against the equity of the subsidiary attributable 
to those shares. Equity is stated at the fair value of the assets, 
liabilities, prepaid expenses and deferred income to be included in 
the consolidated financial statements at the time of consolidation. 
Any remaining asset difference is disclosed as goodwill; any dif-

ference on the liabilities side is disclosed separately under equity 
as a “Negative consolidation difference”. 

The fair value of the assets, liabilities, prepaid expenses and de-
ferred income is determined as of the date on which the company 
became a subsidiary; this is also the date of acquisition accounting. 

Intercompany receivables and liabilities, revenue, income and ex-
penses and any intercompany profits and losses were eliminated.

In accordance with German Accounting Standard (GAS) 4, gains 
on disposal from the proportionate sale of shares in subsidiaries 
are recognized in profit or loss regardless of whether control ends 
as a result of selling shares.

4. �Accounting and valuation methods

The following accounting and valuation methods were used to 
prepare the financial statements.

The financial statements of the companies included in the con-
solidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with 
uniform accounting and valuation methods.

Purchased intangible assets are recognized at acquisition or 
production cost and are amortized over their useful lives using the 
straight-line method if they have a limited life. The useful life ranges 
from 3 to 20 years. Intangible assets primarily comprise exploration 
and mining licenses. Exploration licenses are amortized using the 
straight-line method as of the date of acquisition until each license 
expires. By contrast, mining licenses are amortized over the expect-
ed remaining useful life using the straight-line method.

Extraordinary write-downs are recognized if the impairment is 
expected to be permanent. 

Goodwill from acquisition accounting of shares is amortized pro 
rata temporis over a period of five/twelve years. The estimated 
useful lives are based on the expected extraction periods and 
volumes.

Property, plant and equipment are recognized at acquisition or 
production cost and are depreciated if they have a limited life. The 
cost of self-constructed assets includes direct costs as well as a 
proportionate share of overheads. 

Classification of property, plant and equipment was expanded 
by adding the categories “Petroleum extraction machines” and 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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“Mines under construction” on account of the specific features of 
an extractive company. The petroleum extraction machines relate 
to three machines, each with three wells on the “Wattenberg” 
oil and gas field in Windsor, Colorado (USA). Mines under con-
struction relate to a tungsten mine in the state of Queensland 
(Australia) that was still in the testing phase in fiscal year 2012. 

Classification of property, plant and equipment also contains the 
item “Exploration and evaluation”. The item contains expenses 
incurred during the exploration and evaluation phase in direct con-
nection with the discovery of minable material and which directly 
serve the procurement of raw materials more likely than not to 
generate future cash flows. Direct costs and a proportionate share 
of overheads are recognized.

 As of the date of commercial mining/extraction, these items are 
reclassified to the respective fixed asset items. Should it emerge 
that, due to events or change in circumstances, the estimated raw 
materials available are not sustainable or fall significantly short of 
expectations or the yield is not sufficient for viable extraction, the 
assets affected are written off through profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their estimat-
ed useful lives using the straight-line method. The useful life for 
plant and machinery ranges between 8 and 25 years, for other 
equipment, furniture and fixtures between 3 and 13 years. Pro-
ducing mines are depreciated over a period of between 10 and 
25 years in line with the estimated mining activities. There is 
one exception regarding the straight-line depreciation method for 
petroleum extraction machines, which are depreciated according 
to the degree of utilization. The degree of utilization reflects the 
economic rate of depreciation.

Extraordinary write-downs are recognized if the impairment is 
expected to be permanent. 

With regard to financial assets, equity investments are recog-
nized at the lower of cost or market. 

Inventories are recognized at the lower of cost or market. 

Inventories of raw materials, consumables and supplies are 
valued at the lower of average cost or market on the balance 
sheet date. 

Finished goods and work in process are valued at production 
cost. In addition to the direct cost of materials, direct labor and 
other special direct costs, production costs include production 

and materials overheads as well as depreciation. Borrowing costs 
were not included in production cost. General and administrative 
expenses were also not capitalized.

In all cases, valuation was at net realizable value, i.e., the cost to 
complete was deducted from the expected sales prices.

Receivables and other assets were stated at their nominal 
value less allowances for specific risks. 

As pending transactions, derivative financial instruments are 
generally not recognized. Gains on hedging instruments that can-
not be designated to corresponding hedged items are only realized 
upon maturity. Unrealized losses from derivative financial instru-
ments are recognized with an effect on income if they are not 
included in a hedge and the unrealized losses are not compensated 
for by offsetting changes in the value of the hedged item.

Other securities classified as current assets are recognized at 
acquisition cost or, if applicable, at the lower listed or market 
prices on the balance sheet date. 

Prepaid expenses include payments made prior to the balance 
sheet date that relate to expenses for a particular period after 
this date.

Other provisions account for all uncertain liabilities and po-
tential losses from pending transactions. They are recognized 
at the settlement value deemed necessary according to prudent 
business judgment (i.e., including future cost and price increas-
es). Provisions with a residual term of more than one year were 
discounted. Recultivation provisions were primarily recognized 
for field clearance and well plugging. This involves recognizing 
a pro rata addition, taking into account expected future price and 
cost increases as well as discounts in line with the respective 
remaining term. 

Provisions are discounted using an interest rate suitable for instru-
ments of an equivalent term in accordance with the RückAbzinsV 
[“Rückstellungsabzinsungsverordnung”: German Ordinance on 
the Discounting of Provisions]. Liabilities were recorded at the 
settlement value.

To determine deferred taxes arising due to timing or temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets, liabilities, 
prepaid expenses and deferred income in the statutory accounts 
and their tax carrying amounts or due to tax loss carryforwards, the 
resulting tax burden and relief are valued using the company-spe-
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cific tax rates at the time the differences reverse; these amounts 
are not discounted. Differences due to consolidation procedures 
in accordance with Secs. 300 to 307 HGB are taken into account; 
differences arising on the first-time recognition of goodwill or a 
negative consolidation difference are not included. Deferred tax 
assets were recognized on tax loss carryforwards if expected to be 
offset within the next five years. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are not offset. 

Currency translation

Foreign currency assets and liabilities were translated using the 
mean spot rate on the balance sheet date. If they had residual 
terms of more than one year, the realization principle and the his-
torical cost principle were applied.

Except for equity, assets and liabilities in the financial statements 
prepared in foreign currency were translated into euro at the mean 
spot rate on the balance sheet date. Equity is translated at his-
torical exchange rates. The items of the income statement are 
translated into euros at the average exchange rate. The resulting 
translation difference is recognized in consolidated equity under 
the item “Equity difference from currency translation”. 

5.	�N otes to the consolidated  
balance sheet

5.1. Fixed assets
The development of fixed assets, including amortization, deprecia-
tion and write-downs for the fiscal year, is shown in the statement 
of changes in fixed assets.

In the fiscal year, the share in the Tekton Energy Group was in-
creased by a further 3.1 %. In connection with this, goodwill 
amounted to EUR 1,000k which is amortized over twelve months. 
This included the results from a successful drilling program which 
provide a better estimate of the extraction and volume period.

The item “Purchased franchises, industrial rights and similar 
rights and assets, and licenses in such rights and assets” pri-
marily contains mining licenses held by Tropical Metals Pty. Ltd. 
of EUR 1,040k.

The petroleum extraction machines relate to oil and gas fields in 
North America.

The item “Mines under construction” contains a tungsten-molyb-
denum mine in the state of Queensland, Australia.

This item for exploration and evaluation breaks down as follows: 
(see table 5.1.).

5.2. 5.2.	 Information on shareholdings
see table 5.2.

5.3. Inventories
Inventories primarily relate to tungsten and low volumes of gold as 
finished goods as well as tungsten ores that have been extracted 
but not yet processed recognized as work in process. Raw mate-
rials, consumables and supplies primarily include chemicals that 
are required for processing raw materials.

5.4. Receivables and other assets
The remaining terms of receivables and other assets break down 
as follows (see table 5.4. und table 5.4.1.).

5.5. Derivative financial instruments
There are currency and other derivative transactions (see table 
5.5.).

The currency transactions comprise forward exchange contracts 
based on the Australian dollar (AUD). These were concluded with 
the aim of eliminating the currency risk with the purchase price 
payments from the sale of shares in Deutsche Rohstoff Australia 
Pty. Ltd of AUD 1.5m each as of 31 March, 30 June and 30 Sep-
tember 2013.

Other transactions include derivative financial instruments in the 
form of costless collars comprising put and call options concluded 
to hedge the price risk on the sales side resulting from oil produc-
tion. They were not accounted for as hedges in accordance with 
Sec. 254 HBG.

Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value on the 
basis of published market prices. If there is no price listed on 
an active market, other suitable valuation methods are used. The 
market values of the forward exchange contracts were provided by 
the relevant contractual partners (financial service providers) with 
which the hedging transactions were concluded. To determine the 
market value of the put and call options (costless collars) as of the 
balance sheet date, the values prepared by the relevant contrac-
tual partner were also used to determine the market value on the 
basis of a mark-to-market valuation.

5.6. Prepaid expenses
Prepaid expenses primarily relate to prepaid insurance and rental 
amounts.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Table 5.1. Fixed assets

in EUR

Project / company Raw material 2012 2011

Deutsche Rohstoff Australia Pty Ltd Gold  0 3,333,234 

Tekton Energy LLC Oil and gas  900,261  736,914 

Wolfram Camp Mining Pty Ltd. Tungsten  832,028 5,390,035 

Sachsenzinn GmbH Tin and copper 1,855,329  256,742 

TIN International, Australia Tin  118,115  0 

Tropical Metals, Australia Tungsten  118,353  0 

Seltenerden Storkwitz AG Rare earths  675,810  0 

4,499,895 9,716,924 

Table 5.2. Information on shareholdings

 Registered office incl. shares in acc. with
Sec. 16 AktG

Fiscal year Equity
in local 

currency

Net income/ 
loss in local

currency

 direct
 % 

indirect
 %

total
 %

Consolidated affiliates

Deutsch Rohstoff AG Heidelberg, Germany     

Deutsche Rohstoff USA Inc. Denver, USA 100.00  100.00 2012

Tekton Energy LLC Denver, USA  63.90 63.90 2012

Tekton Windsor LLC, USA Denver, USA  63.90 63.90 2012

Wolfram Camp Mining Pty Ltd., Brisbane, Australia 100.00  100.00 2012

Tropical Metals Pty Ltd. Brisbane, Australia 100.00  100.00 2012

Tin International Ltd. Sydney, Australia 60.33  60.33 2012

Sachsenzinn GmbH Chemnitz, Germany  60.33 60.33 2012

Seltenerden Storkwitz AG Chemnitz, Germany 60.04  60.04 2012

Other equity investments *

Devonian Metals Ltd. New Westminster, 
Canada

47.00   2011 / 12 6,391,894 1,454,587

Rhein Petroleum GmbH Heidelberg, Germany 10.00   2012 2,464,464 -11,687,528

*	� Measured at group amortized cost, as Deutsche Rohstoff AG cannot exert significant influence on the business and financial  

policies of these companies.
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Table 5.4. Receivables and other assets

31 Dec 2012

in EUR < one year > one year Total

Trade receivables 624,438 0 624,438

Receivables from other investees and investors 156,778 0 156,778

Other assets 5,156,347 64,321 5,220,668

– thereof for taxes 71,712 0 71,712

– thereof for social security 0 0 0

6,001,884

31 Dec 2011

in EUR < one year > one year Total

Trade receivables 530,235 0 530,235

Receivables from other investees and investors 13,312 143,466 156,778

Other assets 493,424 387,081 880,505

– thereof for taxes 101,033 0 101,033

– thereof for social security 0 0 0

1,567,518

Table 5.4.1. Other assets include the following items:

2012 2011

Receivable from the sale of Deutsche Rohstoff Australia 4,768,095 0

Receivables from the sale of machines 150,000 300,000

Loan granted 0 295,514

Deposits 86,179 91,567

Receivables from the tax authorities 70,602 53,798

VAT receivables 36,721 47,234

Interest receivables 0 6,038

Derivative financial instruments 605 0

Other 108,465 86,353

 5,220,667 880,505

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Table 5.5. Derivative financial instruments

Category Nominal amount Fair value Book value 
(where available)

Balance sheet item 
 (if recognized)

EUR EUR  EUR 

Currency transactions 3,492,308 -5,185  0 n/a

Other transactions   4,616  605 Other assets

5.7. Deferred taxes
A tax rate of approximately 30 % was used for calculating de-
ferred taxes. Deferred tax assets were recognized on tax loss 
carryforwards of approximately EUR 9.0m (prior year: EUR 3.9m) 
(see table 5.7.)

5.8. Equity
The development of equity is shown in the statement of changes 
in equity.

As of 31 December 2012, the subscribed capital of EUR 5,322k 
(prior year: EUR 4,534k) corresponds to the balance sheet item rec-
ognized at the parent company. In the fiscal year, a capital increase 
of EUR 788k was performed at the parent company. 

As of the balance sheet date, the capital reserves are EUR 3,262k 
(prior year: EUR 2,229k) higher than the capital reserves of the 
parent company. The EUR 1,033k change in the current fiscal year 
is attributable to the disproportionate payments made by minority 
interests as part of capital increases at the subsidiaries Selten-
erden Storkwitz AG and TIN International Ltd. The equity portions 
attributable to the minority interests were presented separately.

Of the consolidated equity earned, EUR 1,265k as of 31 December 
2012 (prior year: EUR 571k) is not distributable due to legal restric-
tions in accordance with Sec. 268 (8) HGB, as deferred tax assets 
exceed deferred tax liabilities.

5.9. Other provisions
Other provisions developed as follows (see table 5.9.)

5.10. Liabilities
Liabilities are listed in the table below (see table 5.10.).

Other liabilities include a loan of EUR 2.0m granted by a private 
creditor of Deutsche Rohstoff AG. 

6.	�N otes to the consolidated income 
statement

6.1. Revenue
Revenue by segment breaks down as follows:

Other revenue relates among other things to management services 
rendered to other investees and investors.

Revenue by region breaks down as follows:

6.2. Income from sale/deconsolidation
This relates to income from the sale of 100 % of the shares in 
Deutsche Rohstoff Australia Pty. Ltd. as of 22 October 2012. As 
of the time of deconsolidation, Deutsche Rohstoff Australia Pty. 
Ltd.’s assets amounted to EUR 8.2m and liabilities to EUR 0.4m. 
This is a company involved in the mining of gold and silver and 
which possesses a gold processing plant as well as various mining 
and exploration licenses.

in EUR 2012 2011

Gold and silver  4,444 14,524,758 

High-tech metals 1,421,229  0 

Oil 1,047,302  0 

Gas 59,708  0 

Other 562,758 678,289 

3,095,441 15,203,048 

in EUR 2012 2011

Germany  565,846 378,053 

USA 1,999,591  0 

Australia and Asia  530,005 14,824,995 

3,095,441 15,203,048 
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Table 5.9. Other provisions

in EUR
As of 1 Jan 2012 Change in basis  

of consolidation
Currency  

adjustments
Utilization Reversal Allocation Reclassification Interest  

portions
As of 31 Dec 2012

Provisions relating to personnel 254,278 0 -6,928 204,507 0 373,136 -37,458 0 378,522

– �Vacation, overtime, flextime 57,066 0 -5,260 19,608 0 205,008 -37,458 0 199,748

– �Other personnel expenses 197,213 0 -1,668 184,899 0 168,128 0 0 178,774

Other provisions 1,656,998 -350,824 -5,780 666,893 0 658,394 0 4,301 1,296,195

– �Outstanding invoices 149,697  -5,195 149,697  202,456   197,261

– Recultivation expenses 1,213,802 -350,824 1,592 223,698  30,775  4,301 675,948

– Other 293,499  -2,177 293,499  425,162   422,986

Total provisions 1,911,277 -350,824 -12,708 871,400 0 1,031,530 -37,458 4,301 1,674,717

Table 5.7. Deferred taxes

in EUR 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Deferred tax assets on differences in carrying amounts for

– property, plant and equipment 435,215 0

– inventories 154,208 1,209,170

– receivables and other assets 3,897 0

– other provisions 267,791 0

– liabilities 395,432 265,393

Total 1,256,542 1,474,563

Deferred taxes on loss carryforwards 2,713,580 1,164,598

Total deferred tax assets 3,970,122 2,639,162

Deferred tax liabilities on differences in carrying amounts for

– intangible assets 307,051 307,051

– property, plant and equipment 883,162 900,277

– receivables and other assets 0 182,888

– other provisions 0 21,725

– liabilities 0 136,599

Total deferred tax liabilities 1,190,213 1,548,540

Total deferred taxes, net 2,779,909 1,090,622

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Table 5.9. Other provisions

in EUR
As of 1 Jan 2012 Change in basis  

of consolidation
Currency  

adjustments
Utilization Reversal Allocation Reclassification Interest  

portions
As of 31 Dec 2012

Provisions relating to personnel 254,278 0 -6,928 204,507 0 373,136 -37,458 0 378,522

– �Vacation, overtime, flextime 57,066 0 -5,260 19,608 0 205,008 -37,458 0 199,748

– �Other personnel expenses 197,213 0 -1,668 184,899 0 168,128 0 0 178,774

Other provisions 1,656,998 -350,824 -5,780 666,893 0 658,394 0 4,301 1,296,195

– �Outstanding invoices 149,697  -5,195 149,697  202,456   197,261

– Recultivation expenses 1,213,802 -350,824 1,592 223,698  30,775  4,301 675,948

– Other 293,499  -2,177 293,499  425,162   422,986

Total provisions 1,911,277 -350,824 -12,708 871,400 0 1,031,530 -37,458 4,301 1,674,717

Table 5.10. Liabilities 

Due in (years) 31 Dec 2012

in EUR < one year one to five years > five years Total thereof secured

Liabilities to banks 4,634,385 0 0 4,634,385 4,634,385

Trade payables 2,677,956 174,762 0 2,852,718 0

Other liabilities 4,160,283 0 0 4,160,283 0

– thereof for social security 677 0 0 677 0

– thereof for taxes 34,103 0 0 34,103 0

Due in (years) 31 Dec 2011

in EUR < one year one to five years > five years Total thereof secured

Liabilities to banks 10,975 4,488,031 0 4,499,006 0

Trade payables 710,950 0 0 710,950 0

Other liabilities 401,834 0 0 401,834 0

– thereof for social security 1,591 0 0 1,591 0

– thereof for taxes 14,315 0 0 14,315 0
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7. Other notes

7.1. Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement
EUR 4,695k (prior year: EUR 1,990k) of cash received from equi-
ty contributions relates to minority interests. A non-cash capital 
contribution of EUR 2,084k was performed at Deutsche Rohstoff 
AG in the prior year, which did not affect cash.

Cash and cash equivalents comprises the balance sheet item 
“Bank balances”. 

In total, EUR 0k (prior year: EUR 1,518k) of cash and cash equiv-
alents are subject to restrictions on disposal. This relates to a 
security payment for future recultivation measures over which the 
Group does not have full power of disposal.

7.2. �Related party transactions
In the fiscal year, there were no significant transactions with re-
lated parties conducted on terms other than arm’s length terms.

7.3. �Contingent liabilities and other financial obligations
Contingent liabilities
There are no contingent liabilities.

Off balance sheet transactions
See Table 7.3.

Other financial obligations
In addition to the contingent liabilities and off balance sheet trans-
actions, there are other financial obligations (see table 7.3.1.).

The prior year relates to the income from the sale of 55 % of the 
shares in Rhein Petroleum GmbH, a petroleum and natural gas 
company, as of 1 January 2011. As of the time of deconsolida-
tion, the share of assets and liabilities of Rhein Petroleum GmbH 
amounted to EUR 1,859k and EUR 287k respectively.

6.3. Other operating income
Other operating income comprises the following (see table 6.3.).

Income from the disposal of fixed financial assets relates to the 
earnings from the sale of 15.0 % of the shares in Rhein Petroleum 
GmbH. Income from the disposal of companies that remain fully 
consolidated includes income from the sale of 3.0 % of the shares 
in TIN International Ltd. of EUR 0.6m as well as from the sale of 
2.8 % of the shares in Seltenerden Storkwitz AG of EUR 0.2m. The 
gains on disposal from the proportionate sale of shares in TIN 
International Ltd. and Seltenerden Storkwitz AG were recognized 
in profit or loss in accordance with GAS 4 despite the fact that 
control remains. 

6.4. Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses break down as follows (see table 6.4.).

6.5. Income taxes

Table 6.3. Other operating income

in EUR 2012 2011

Income from the disposal of fixed financial assets 2,125,177 0

Income from the disposal of companies that remain fully consolidated 836,487 0

Income from the disposal of property, plant and equipment  5,000  79,905 

Income from exchange rate gains  162,852  836,988 

Sundry other income  225,246  292,750 

3,354,762 1,209,643 

in EUR 2012 2011

Income (-) / expense (+) from 
changes in deferred taxes

-1,711,280 -2,623,957 

-1,711,280 -2,623,957 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Table 6.4. Other operating expenses

in EUR 2012 2011

Operating expenses  100,918  337,484 

Non-recognizable exploration and evaluation expenses  475,535  25,751 

Administrative expenses 3,774,975 2,150,15 

Selling expenses  302,519  989,418 

Other expenses 2,357,786 2,291,869 

7,011,733 5,794,537 

For operating expenses

Rent and leases  19,857  26,943 

Maintenance and third-party repairs for land and buildings  43,763  0 

Utilities 37,297  310,540 

100,918  337,484 

For administrative expenses

Legal and consulting fees 2,100,872 447,924

Bookkeeping costs 467,521 261,097

Insurance premiums 290,777 74,071

Costs incurred by the supervisory board and similar bodies 171,979 34,044

Rent and leases 164,599 126,252

Preparation of financial statements and audit fees 125,657 59,002

Expenses (rent, maintenance, consulting, etc.) 76,830 72,755

Contributions 39,105 11,023

Office materials 27,799 21,623

Post and telephone expenses, data transfer 36,723 37,875

Bank charges and fees 33,752 33,676

Other administrative expenses 239,362 970,672

3,774,975 2,150,015 

For selling expenses

Travel expenses 193,590 196,302

Advertising and sales promotion 32,526 8,557

Royalties 51,025 773,755

Other selling expenses 25,377 10,803

 302,519  989,418 

For other expenses

Expenses for exchange rate losses 770,135 100

Expenses for incidental personnel expenses/training 4,314 5,922

Vehicle expenses 65,970 62,279

Losses from the disposal of property, plant and equipment 0 20,916

Bad debts 0 427,275

Addition to specific bad debts 466,708 0

Allocation to other provisions 3,813 187,962

Expenses for donations 800 500

Sundry other operating expenses* 1,046,046 1,586,915

2,357,786 2,291,869 

*	� Sundry other operating expenses for 2012 include equity procurement expenses in connection with Tin International Ltd. of EUR 460k.
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Stock option program
In accordance with the resolution approved at the annual gen-
eral meeting of Deutsche Rohstoff AG on 22 July 2011, the 
executive board is authorized until 31 December 2013 to launch 
stock option plans and to issue, once or in several tranches, 
up to 225,000 stock options with subscription rights to new 
registered no-par value shares in the Company representing 
a pro-rata amount of EUR 1.00 of the share capital per share 
with a term of up to seven years to members of management 

Table 7.3. Off balance sheet transactions

Purpose Risks Benefits

Operating leases Safeguard the liquidity situation 
and improve the equity ratio

Risks arise from the non-cancellable 
minimum lease term as well as higher 
refinancing costs.

Short-term contractual obligations, 
allowing leased items to be upgraded to 
keep up with technical progress.

Table 7.4. Employees 2012

Headcount Production Administration Total

Wage earners 48 0 48

Salaried employees 0 26 26

Trainees 0 0 0

48 26 74

2011

Headcount Production Administration Total

Wage earners 19 0 19

Salaried employees 0 17 17

Trainees 0 0 0

19 17 36

of the Company’s affiliates in Germany and abroad and their 
affiliates in Germany and abroad, subject to the condition that 
each stock option grants the right to subscribe a new share in 
the Company.

By resolution dated 13 September 2011, the executive board 
made use of the authorization for the first time and issued 90,000 
stock options to members of management of the Company’s af-
filiates in Germany and abroad as well as 28,000 stock options 

Table 7.3.1. Other financial obligations

in EUR Due within  
one year

Due in more 
than one year

2012 Due within  
one year

Due in more 
than one year

2011

Office rent  110,784  169,951  280,736  93,001  277,494  370,495 

Vehicle leases  5,100  1,275  6,375  10,881  27,202  38,083 

Other  4,200  4,200  8,400  1,836  5,508  7,344 

295,511  415,922

The average number of employees is taken by adding together a quarter of the total employees as of 31 March, 30 June, 30 September and 31 December. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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to the Company’s employees and its affiliates in Germany and 
abroad. By resolution dated 3 January 2012, the executive board 
once again made use of the authorization and issued 50,000 
stock options to members of management of the Company’s af-
filiates in Germany and abroad as well as 41,000 stock options 
to the Company’s employees and its affiliates in Germany and 
abroad.

The Company will solely grant subscription shares to the option 
holders provided the conditions of the 2011 stock option program 
are fulfilled. A cash settlement in this regard is expressly preclud-
ed. The stock option program did not have any influence on these 
financial statements.

As of the date they were granted, the stock options had a value 
of EUR 0k (prior year: EUR 0k). As of the balance sheet date, this 
figure stood at EUR 178k (prior year: EUR 345k).

7.4. Employees
The average number of employees during the fiscal year is pre-
sented below (see table 7.4.).

7.5. Corporate bodies
Executive board
Dr. Titus Gebel, Schönau
Dr. Thomas Gutschlag, Mannheim

Supervisory board
Martin Billhardt (chairman), Cuxhaven 

chairman of the executive board of PNE WIND AG

Prof. Dr. Gregor Borg, Halle 
head of the working group on petrology and economic geology 
(Fachgruppe für Petrologie und Lagerstättenforschung) at the 
University of Halle-Wittenberg

Wolfgang Seybold, Esslingen am Neckar
bank officer, general manager of AXINO Investment GmbH

7.6. Total remuneration of the executive boards
Remuneration of the executive board of Deutsche Rohstoff AG for 
performing its functions at the parent company and the subsidiar-
ies amounted to EUR 475k (prior year: EUR 298k).

7.7. Total supervisory board remuneration
Remuneration of the supervisory board of Deutsche Rohstoff AG 
for performing its functions at the parent company and the sub-
sidiaries amounted to EUR 39k (prior year: EUR 34k).

7.8. Auditor fees and services
The group auditor’s total fees for the fiscal year amount to EUR 
102k and comprise fees for the audit of the financial statements 
amounting to EUR 96k and other services of EUR 6k.

Heidelberg, 5 June 2013

The Executive Board

Dr. Titus Gebel	 Dr. Thomas Gutschlag
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Dear Shareholders, 

during the past financial year, the Supervisory Board has met the 
responsibilities upon it pursuant to the law and the company’s 
Articles of Association and Rules of Procedure. It has also in-
tensively pursued its responsibilities of overseeing and advising 
the Management in the management of business activities. The 
Supervisory Board was closely involved in all decisions of funda-
mental importance to the company. In the course of fulfilling its 
duties, the Supervisory Board has received regular, prompt, and 
comprehensive written and verbal reports, also by telephone, from 
the Management regarding business planning, the situation and 
development of the company and its subsidiaries and affiliated 
companies as well as all significant business transactions. We 
have carefully examined, discussed, and voted on the decisions or 
measures proposed by the Management that, pursuant to the law 
and the company’s Articles of Association and Rules of Procedure 
of the Management Board, require our approval. 

Over and above the reports from the Management Board, I have, 
in my position as Chairman of the Supervisory Board, maintained 
constant contact with the Management Board and have stayed in-
formed about current business developments. In particular, these 
include the implementation of the company’s capital increase in Feb-
ruary and March 2012, the development of the start of production at 
Wolfram Camp Mining Pty. Ltd., the progress and success of the oil 
drilling at Tekton Energy LLC, the sale of Deutsche Rohstoff Australia 
Pty. Ltd., the partial sale of a stake in Rhein Petroleum GmbH, the 
drilling in the exploration areas of Sachsenzinn GmbH and Selten-
erden Storkwitz AG, and the JORC classifications that were issued 
thereupon as well as further significant business transactions of the 
company and its subsidiaries and affiliated companies. 

Supervisory Board and key points of deliberation 
During financial year 2012, four meetings of the Supervisory Board 
were held. All of the meetings were held in person and all of 
the panel members were present at each meeting. No special 
committees were formed. The key points discussed at the Super-
visory Board meetings during 2012 included the following issues 
in particular: 

· �The ramp-up of the production of tungsten concentrate in Queens-
land, Australia by Wolfram Camp Mining Pty. Ltd. as from March 
2012; 

· �The realization and evaluation of the results of nine vertical wells 
of Tekton Energy LLC in Colorado, USA in spring 2012; 

· �The approval of the financial statements and the consolidated 
financial statements for the financial year 2011 during the Super-
visory Board Meeting on 11 June 2012, after lengthy discussions 
with the auditor of the financial statements and consolidated 
financial statements for the financial year 2011; 

· �The election of the chairman of the Supervisory Board and of 
his deputy at the constituent meeting of the Supervisory Board 
immediately after the election of the new Supervisory Board by 
the Annual General Meeting on 25 July 2012; 

· �The sale of Deutsche Rohstoff Australia Pty. Ltd. in September 
2012; 

· �The sale of 15 % of the company’s stake in Rhein Petroleum GmbH 
in September 2012; 

· �The evaluation of the drilling results in the exploration areas of 
Sachsenzinn GmbH and Seltenerden Storkwitz AG as well as 
the analysis of the JORC classifications that were issued upon 
the drilling; 

· �Investment and budget planning for 2012 and 2013. 

The adjustments to the budget prepared by the Management Board 
for 2012 and the budget planning for 2013 have been examined in 
detail by the Supervisory Board and have been endorsed. Based on 
mid and long-term corporate planning as well as scenario compari-
sons, the strategic focus of the company was discussed, reviewed, 
and adjusted. The Supervisory Board immediately reviewed the in-
formation it received from the Management Board and discussed 
this with the Management Board. Particular attention was paid to 
the liquidity situation, the risk situation, and to risk management. 

The Management Board kept the Supervisory Board informed 
of the net assets, financial position, and operating results of 
Deutsche Rohstoff AG together with its subsidiaries and associ-
ated companies on a regular basis. The basis for this was provided 
by the monthly, quarterly, and annual financial reports (together 
with their evaluations), which were submitted in time. 

In the course of various meetings and resolutions, the Superviso-
ry Board also granted its approval to transactions that are subject 
to approval by the Management Board pursuant to the law and 
the company’s Articles of Association and Rules of Procedure. In 
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particular, these included the approval of the Supervisory Board 
on 10 February 2012 for the resolution of the Management Board 
to increase the company’s share capital by EUR 760,306 from 
EUR 4,561,841 up to EUR 5,322,147 by issuing up to a total of 
760,306 no-par value registered shares and granting subscrip-
tion rights to the shareholders. Also included were the approval 
of the Supervisory Board of 05 May 2012 for the specification of 
the amount of the aforementioned capital increase to the stated 
maximum amounts. Furthermore, including the approval of the 
Supervisory Boars for taking on loans from a private creditor 
amounting to EUR 3 million and ultimately the approval of the 
Supervisory Board for the issuance of a second tranche out of 
the stock option program 2011. 

Annual financial statements, consolidated financial state-
ments, and proposal for the appropriation of distributable 
profits 
The auditing company Ernst & Young GmbH, based in Stutt-
gart, Germany and a secondary establishment in Mannheim, 
Theodor-Heuss-Anlage 2, 68165 Mannheim, Germany (“Ernst & 
Young”), was appointed auditor and group auditor for financial 
year 2012 by the Annual General Meeting on 25 July 2012 and 
was subsequently mandated by the Supervisory Board to audit the 
company’s single-entity and consolidated financial statements. Er-
nst & Young audited the single-entity and consolidated financial 
statements that were prepared by the Management Board (in-
cluding the group management report) for financial year 2012 and 
issued an unqualified audit certificate. 

All members of the Supervisory Board received special documen-
tation pertaining to the financial statements, in particular these 
included the annual and consolidated financial statements, the 
corresponding audit reports prepared by the Ernst & Young, to-
gether with the Management Board’s proposal for the appropria-
tion of distributable profits, in good time before the Supervisory 
Board Meeting on 5 June 2013 that was convened to adopt the 
annual financial statements. In preparation for this meeting, The 
Supervisory Board members reviewed these documents in detail 
in preparation for this meeting. At the meeting, the financial state-
ments, consolidated financial statements, group management re-
port, and the Management Board’s proposal for the appropriation 
of distributable profits were discussed in depth with the Manage-
ment Board. During the meeting the Supervisory Board carried out 
an independent review of the financial statements, consolidated 

financial statements, and group management report in respect of 
their legality, correctness, fitness for purpose, and efficiency. The 
Management Board’s proposal for the appropriation of distribut-
able profits was reviewed in accordance with the same criteria. 
Ernst & Young also participated in the meeting on 5 June 2013. 
Ernst & Young reported on the audit, commented on the key points 
of the audit, and was available to answer questions and provide 
supplementary information to the Supervisory Board. 

Report of the Supervisory Board
Following a detailed examination of the financial statements, 
consolidated financial statements, and group management report 
for the financial year of 2012, the Supervisory Board did not raise 
any objections. The Supervisory Board also raised no objections 
to the Management Board’s proposal for the appropriation of dis-
tributable profits. The Supervisory Board agreed with the results of 
the audit carried out by Ernst & Young and approved the financial 
statements and group financial statements of Deutsche Rohstoff 
AG. The financial statements of Deutsche Rohstoff AG are there-
fore adopted. 

Election of the new Supervisory Board 
On 25 July 2012, the Annual General Meeting of the Deutsche 
Rohstoff AG elected the former members of the Supervisory Board, 
Martin Billhardt, Prof. Dr. Gregor Borg, and Wolfgang Seybold for 
the period until the close of the Annual General Meeting, which 
resolves on the discharge for the financial year 2016. In the fol-
lowing constituent meeting of the Supervisory Board, Martin Bill-
hardt was re-elected as Chairman of the Supervisory Board and 
Professor Dr. Gregor Borg was re-elected as Deputy Chairman of 
the Supervisory Board. 

The Supervisory Board herewith thanks the members of the Man-
agement Board and all of the company’s employees for the great 
commitment they have demonstrated and for their achievements 
during financial year 2012.

Heidelberg, June 2012 

For the Supervisory Board 

Martin Billhardt (Chairman) 
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To Deutsche Rohstoff AG

We have audited the consolidated financial statements pre-
pared by Deutsche Rohstoff AG, Heidelberg, comprising the 
balance sheet, the income statement, the cash flow statement, 
the statement of changes in equity and the notes to the conso-
lidated financial statements together with the group manage-
ment report for the fiscal year from 1 January to 31 December 
2012. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
and the group management report in accordance with Ger-
man commercial law is the responsibility of the Company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements and the group management 
report based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with Sec. 317 HGB [“Handelsgesetzbuch”: 
German Commercial Code] and German generally accepted 
standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by 
the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors 
in Germany] (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit such that misstatements materially affec-
ting the presentation of the net assets, financial position and 
results of operations in the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with [German] principles of proper accounting 
and in the group management report are detected with rea-
sonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and 
the economic and legal environment of the Group and expec-
tations as to possible misstatements are taken into account 
in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness 
of the accounting-related internal control system and the evi-
dence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements and the group management report are examined 

primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. 
The audit includes assessing the annual financial statements 
of those entities included in consolidation, the determination 
of entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting and 
consolidation principles used and significant estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presenta-
tion of the consolidated financial statements and the group 
management report. We believe that our audit provides a rea-
sonable basis for our opinion. 

Our audit has not led to any reservations.
In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated 
financial statements comply with the legal requirements and give 
a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results 
of operations of the Group in accordance with [German] principles 
of proper accounting. The group management report is consistent 
with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole provi-
des a suitable view of the Group’s position and suitably presents 
the opportunities and risks of future development.

Mannheim, 5 June 2013

Ernst & Young GmbH

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Günnewig	 Hällmeyer
Wirtschaftsprüfer	 Wirtschaftsprüfer
(German Public Auditor)	 (German Public Auditor)

Audit opinion
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Disclaimer 

Forward-looking statements

This report contains forward-looking statements that reflect the management’s current 
views in respect of future developments. Such statements are subject to risks and 
uncertainties that are beyond the ability of Deutsche Rohstoff AG (DRAG) to control or 
estimate precisely. Such statements may include future market conditions and economic 
environment, the behaviour of other market participants, the successful acquisition or 
sale of group companies or interests and the actions of government bodies. Should any 
of the above stated risks or other risks and uncertainties occur, or should the assumptions 
underlying any of these statements prove incorrect, then the actual results may differ 
significantly from those expressed or implied by such statements. DRAG neither intends 
nor assumes any obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events 
or developments that take place after the date of this report. 

Deviations resulting from technical grounds 

For technical reasons (e.g. resulting from the conversion of electronic formats) deviations 
may arise between the accounting documents contained in this Annual Report and 
those submitted to the electronic Federal Gazette in Germany. In this case the version 
submitted to the electronic Federal Gazette shall be considered the binding version.

This English version of the Annual Report is a translation of the original German versi-
on; in the event of any deviation, the German version of the Annual Report shall take 
precedence over the English version.
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